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Wifflam Tate Executive Vice President

Its not just building powerful equipment

Its improving the fives of people around the world

Bucyrus International Inc is global leader in making the world go around

We manufacture the large-scale excavation machinery that is crucial to the

worlds surface and underground mining industries We work 24/7/365 to

unearth the raw materials essential to life on our planet today And we

respect the Earth and its inhabitants every step of the way always striving to

work responsibly and profitably For us its all in days work

John Oliver Senior Vice President

Aftermarket and Distribution

BUCYRUS

ReHabiUty at work



We approached this year cautiously based on the dramatic

collapse of the financial and commodity markets

Notwithstanding significant fall off in commodity demand

in the domestic market the gradual but steady increase in

demand for commodities outside the U.S lifted our financial

performance which continued to improve throughout

the year We closed strong annual performance by

significantly exceeding both our revenue and earnings

expectations

We also closed the year by announcing the proposed

acquisition of the mining business of Terex Corporation

This announcement was very well received by the market

2009 STRATEGY
The market uncertainty that prevailed at the end of 2008

created situation for us to reevaluate our overall plan for

2009 am pleased to advise that this change in our plan

not only positioned us well for fiscal 2009 but it has also

set up solid base for our fiscal 2010 financial plan

We decided to proactively manage the $2 billion

backlog we had at the end of 2008 by trying to help our

customers defer their expenses in the face of softening

demand for their commodities and moving as much of this

backlog as possible into 2010 Ou plan effectively leveled

revenue and earnings performance in 2009 and should

give us continued substantial backlog support in 2010

We thought that if the commodity market correction

became extended it was more prudent to level our

revenue and earnings performance rather than have

it spike in 2009 only to fall off in 2010

During the first half of 2009 we were successful in moving

approximately $200 milhon of backlog that was planned

for shipment in 2009 to 2010 This was accomplished by

restructuring contracts accepting extended terms and in

some cases facilitating third-party financing By successfully

accomplishing this plan we effectively preserved our

backlog and we were able to project flat revenues and

earnings in 2009 whle at the

same time beginning to build

protection for the same

2010 We endured relatively

minor cancellations in early

2009 whfle other mining

machinery suppliers were

suffering substantial

cancellatons Our success

in mamtaning our backlog

was based on combination

of our strict compliance to

our order dscipline and

non-cancellation policies and was testament to our

strong customer relationships

2009 PERFORMANCE

Our proactive management of customer relationships

following the economic collapse in late 2008 was

successful while at the same time we were pleasantly

surprised by stronger than expected commodities

market Strong aftermarket activty parhcularly in spare

parts allowed us to actually increase revenue and earnings

as the year progressed Our continued parts ntiatives in

our underground segment also proved very effective

Strong balance sheets by the majonty of our customers

allowed them to spend money in relatively down market to

overhaul and repair machnes that were being underutilized

as result of the commodities market correction

Revenues exceeded 2008 by 6% and as result of

stronger mix of aftermarket and effective management of

Dear Fellow Stockholders

Although 2009 proved to be very difficult year for many

U.S based companies our company performed very well

We were one of the few machinery companies that was

able to increase both revenue and earnings Considering

that more than 70% of our sales are generated outside the

U.S and the relative strength of the international markets

our geographic diversity allowed us to weather much of

the domestic headwinds that other ndustrial companies

faced in 2009



TEREX ACQUISITION
our cost basis adjusted EBITDA exceeded 2008 by 20%

Margin improvement was also the result of continued

efficiencies that we have been able to achieve in our South

Milwaukee operations as result of our refurbishment and

upgrades over the past four years

MARKET ANALYSIS

Clearly there was very strong commodities market

correction in 2009 The collapse of the U.S market in

the fourth quarter of 2008 had direct impact on the

demand for the commodities that our machinery mines

There was commensurate dramatic pullback in

commodities production by all producers The speed of the

pullback in production effectively created pricing support

that by and large maintained commodity prices well

above cash costs The combination of relatively strong

balance sheets and prices above cash costs allowed the

producers to very effectively weather the market correction

Some analysts in the industry had incorrectly predicted

that this was the end of strong commodities cycle and

the beginning of trough We contended very early in

the year that this was short-lived market correction

and that the commodities markets would rebound on the

strength of emerging market demand am pleased to

advise that our contention proved to be correct

We continue to see solid GDP growth in the developing

world As these economies continue to grow and urbanize

their populations we believe that we will continue to see

strong demand for the commodities that our machines

mine as well as strong demand for additional machines

to mine the increasing commodities demand Moreover

there is scarcity factor with commodities in our industry

Virtually all of the various commodities continually become

more difficult to mine and the ore yields continue to drop

This translates into more machine demand For instance

the yield of copper ore as percentage of material extracted

continues to drop This means that more rock needs to be

mined to extract the same amount of copper let alone the

amount needed to address the increased demand for

copper in the developing world It also translates into

more demand for the highly engineered machines we

manufacture The major mining companies demand ever

increasing efficiencies in their production systems to offset

and exceed decreasing yields

From macro viewpoint the world population has more

than doubled over the past 50 years and it is projected to

double yet again over the next 50 years This fundamental

increase in demand will continue to drive the need for

progressively scarce commodities

We announced on December 20 2009 definitive

agreement to purchase the mining machinery business of

Terex Corporation for $1 billion cash and 5809731 shares

of Bucyrus common stock valued at $300 million at the

time the transaction was announced We closed this

transaction on February 19 2010 This transaction has

the potential to be as transformational for our company as

the DBT acquisition which was consummated in 2007

We are now able to offer the largest portfolio of mining

machinery to the mining industry This is important since

the large multinational mining companies mine in remote

areas Leveraging our global presence at our customers

mines across large suite of products should allow us to

meet our customers growing demands and all of their

machinery requirements The acquisition also offers more

cost effective support from both facilities and manpower

standpoint These efficiencies should be great benefit

to our company and its customers

We believe that the addition of the Terex mining products

will allow us to virtually double our market opportunity

from approximately $15 billion to approximately $30 billion

Additionally and just as importantly it will increase our

installed base of machinery from approximately $30 billion

to approximately $40 billion This large installed base of

mining machinery offers highly valuable aftermarket

opportunities

CONCLUSION
As detailed in this report 2009 was yet another year of

strong financial performance We were able to significantly

improve our safety performance as well as make strong

progress in our efforts related to corporate sustainability

We also succeeded in driving forward to improve

management performance We continue to focus on

servicing our customers better and we will continue to

invest in both facilities and people to make us the premier

mining machinery company in the world

TIMOTHY SULLIVAN

President and Chief Executive Officer



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Bowl left to right Theodore Rogers

Timothy Sullivan Row Michelle

Collins Robert Ortberg Gene Little

Row Robert Purdum Deepak Kapur

Paul Jones Row Edward Nelson

Robert Scharp

Theodore Rogers is an officer and director of American

Industrial Partners and has been director of Bucyrus since

1997 Mr Rogers has served as our chairman of the board

since 2004

Timothy Suffivan is the president and chief executive officer

and has been director of Bucyrus since 2000

McheUe CoUns is the president of Cambium LLC and has

been director of Bucyrus since July 2009

Robert Ortberg is executive vice president and chief

operating officer of Rockwell Collins Government Systems

Mr Ortberg has been director of Bucyrus since July 2008

Gene Lftfle is director and member of the Audit Committee

of Huntington Bancshares Inc and has been director of

Bucyrus since 2004 Mr Little is the chairman of our Audit

Committee

Robert Purdum is director and partner of American

Industrial Partners and has been director of Bucyrus

since 1997

Deepak Kapur is the president of Navistar Inc.s Truck Group

and has been director of Bucyrus since July 2009

Pau Jones is the chairman president and chief executive

officer of A.O Smith Corp and has been director of Bucyrus

since July 2006 Mr Jones is chairman of our Compensation

Committee

Edward Nson is the president and chairman of the board

of Nelson Capital Corp and has been director of Bucyrus

snce 2004

Robert Scharp is chairman of the Mining Advisory Council of

Shell Canada Energy director of Foundation Coal Holdings

Inc and has been director of Bucyrus since July 2005 Mr

Sharp is the chairman of our Nominating Corporate

Governance Committee

Board of Drector



2009 TOTAL SALES BY PRODUCT
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2009 TOTAL SALES BY REGION
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Our work directly contributes to raising the standard of living globally
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ALL IN DAYS WORK

The day begins but at this moment all around the world Bucyrus is already hard at work

1058 pm GMT 10 Mackay Austraha an

Bectra range shearer sflces throgb ar

858 pm GM Beng ChIna Bucyrus representative expan

the benefits of an 8750 draghne to customer

158 pm GMT Lünen Germany group of

Bucyrus engineers gather over CAD drawing of ploy system

1058 am GMT in Vespasiano BrazIl the Bucyrus field team on cite

assisting with preventative maintenance on 495HR electrk minn shoveL

658 am GMT in South Mflwaukee Wisconsin

the Bucyrus executive team assembles in he boarcir om



With equipment in operation all around the globe the sun never sets on Bucyrus Founded in 1880 and

headquartered in South Milwaukee Wisconsin U.S.A what began as small foundry in the heart of

the Midwest has grown to become Bucyrus International Inc world leader in the design and

manufacture of mining equipment

Behind the stee and heavy equipment

its our peope that make the difference

In 2009 Bucyrus product lines included draglines electric mining shovels

rotary blasthole drills longwall systems room pillar machinery and belt

systems Our aftermarket products and services include replacement parts

maintenance technical advice structural and mechanical engineering

repairs rebuilds refurbishments and upgrades

Narayan Swamy
Vice President Canada

Thanks to our vast portfolio of mining products and services

we can provide complete turnkey mining operation on the

surface or below it

Yet none of that would be possible without the people

of Bucyrus And thats the key difference between our

competitors and us Our people Nearly

7000 exceptional people around the

globe in 2009 committed to doing an

exceptional job day in and day out We

are dedicated team of experts with pride

and passion for everything we do

Dr Dieter Gessner

Senior Vice President

Europe Russia and India



Buddy Robinson

Senior Vice President and General Counsel

At Bucyrus we expect our people to work

with integrity customer focus and drive

for results The people of Bucyrus rise to

this challenge all day every day

Because our equipment provides the

resources the world needs on daily

basis our work directly contributes to

raising the global standard of living Its not just about

what we make Its also about what we do We provide

employment opportunities We help create wealth

We help put food on peoples tables and roots over

their heads

are provthng soIutons

before there probem

As result people depend on us around the clock

and around the world mine managers stockholders

customers communities and the average person on

the street

Bucyrus maintains strong network of global operations

and regional offices strategically located throughout the

worlds primary mining regions Ready to respond on

moments notice the members of the global Bucyrus

team are available 24/7/365 We understand that

delivering value to our customers allows us to deliver

value to our stockholders

5.O5r .s .0 t0 .O



We work alongside our corporate partners to set new standards in global stewardship that are built upon

integrity and driven by good ethics This responsibility is central to our values ultimately creating lasting

positive effect on our world

Bucyrus is dedicated to providing safe and environmentally sound working environment We strive every day

to achieve our target of Zero Harm and Zero Exposure for our worldwide operations through continuous

process improvements raising the level of individual education and awareness and the effective management

of risk Our core responsibility is safety Safety starts with us from our factories to the employees working

on-site our commitment is to model the behavior we expect at Bucyrus Safety Comes First

Additionally with strong growth comes continued responsibility to support the communities and environments

in which we live and operate We respect and understand what matters to our customers employees and

stockholders and strive to support their needs as dependable partner From community-based health

services to reducing waste involved in manufacturing and support processes Bucyrus demonstrates solid

commitment to social development and environmental stewardship We are committed to providing resources

today that will sustain the generations of tomorrow

Its our world We need to take care of it

The sun never sets on Bucyrus

The Bucyrus brand never sleeps Its always new day somewhere and Bucyrus is there hard at work

building powerful equipment that improves the lives of people around the world Lou Stojack

Vice President U.S and Mexico

For us its all in days work

Paddy Mulligan

Vice President Canada



CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

COMMON STOCKHOLDERS NVESTMENT
US$ in thousands

COMMON STOCK CLOSING PRICES
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STOCK PERFORMANCE NFORMATON

12/31/04 12/30/05 12/29/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09

SP 500 Stock Index /5 DJUSHR Bucyrus International Inc

The graph above compares our cumulative total stockholder return with the cumulative total return of the Standard

Poors 500 Stock Index and the Dow Jones U.S Commercial Vehicles and Truck Index The graph assumes $100 was

COMMON STOCK CLOSNG PRCES
US$ per share

2009 Hgh Low 2008 High Low 2007 High Low

First Quarter $23A6 $1O62 First Quarter $57.00 $33.66 First Quarter $29.22 $22.32

Second Quarter $3434 $14A4 Second Quarter $79.50 $49.33 Second Quarter $36.60 $25.20

Thrd Quarter $37J0 $2362 Third Quarter $75.99 $36.53 Third Quarter $39.89 $28.35

Fourth Quarter $5995 $3t78 Fourth Quarter $44.50 $13.66 Fourth Quarter $52.18 $35.20

SI 358.998

$295996

7/23/04 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

invested on December 31 2004 and assumes the reinvestment of dividends
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Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

except per share amounts

Sales $2651769 $2505838 $1613391

Cost of products sold 1846170 1823335 1205066

Gross profit 805599 682503 408325

Selling general and administrative expenses 269539 243932 185639

Research and development expenses 41908 36550 20358

Amortization of intangible assets 18899 19390 29181

Operating earnings 475253 382631 173147

Interest income 5117 6206
Interest expense 27017 34768 24195

Other expense 6085 3071 2394

Earnings before income taxes 447268 350998 146558

Income tax expense 134565 117683 10424

Net earnings $312.703 $233.315 $136.134

Net earnings per share data

Basic

Net earnings per share $4.20 $3.14 $1.94

Weighted average shares 74456969 74350939 70014440

Diluted

Net earnings per share $4.12 $3.10 $1.93

Weighted average shares 75880863 75205020 70715340

See notes to consolidated financial statements



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Net earnings $312703 $233315 $136134

Other comprehensive income loss
Currency translation adjustments 62410 43351 16811

Change in pension and postretirement

unrecognized costs net of income tax

expense benefit of $5472 $15759 and

$5811 respectively 8281 27846 12034

Derivative fair value changes net of income tax

expense benefit of $13542 $13305 and

$5073 respectively 24064 23186 7518

Other comprehensive income loss 94755 94383 21327

Comprehensive income $407.458 $138932 $157461

See notes to consolidated financial statements



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

except per share amounts

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $101084 $102396

Receivables net 741815 636486

Inventories 627289 616710

Deferred income taxes 45024 53133

Prepaid expenses and other 40861 26045

Total Current Assets 1556073 1.434770

OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill 351333 330211

Intangible assets net 220780 230451

Other assets 61505 68823

Total Other Assets 633618 629485

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land 38879 36795

Buildings and improvements 281841 251057

Machinery and equipment 351540 321795

Less accumulated depreciation 157839 121.251

Total Property Plant and Equipment net 514421 488.396

TOTAL ASSETS $2.704.112 $2.552.651



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Balance Sheets continued

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

except per share amounts

LIABILITIES AND COMMON STOCKHOLDERS INVESTMENT

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
$155857 $229173

Accrued expenses
172865 209453

Liabilities to customers on uncompleted contracts and warranties

183097 252304

Incometaxes
45811 70091

Current maturities of long-term debt and short-term obligations 7566 69291

Total Current Liabilities
565196 830312

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Deferred income taxes
82260 52895

Pension and other
198.000 218181

Total Long-Term Liabilities
280260 271076

LONG-TERM DEBT less current maturities
499666 501755

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Note

COMMON STOCKHOLDERS INVESTMENT

Common stock par value $.01 per share authorized 200000000 shares

issued 75234366 and 75044674 shares in 2009 and 2008 respectively 753 751

Additional paid-in capital
687756 678226

Treasury stock 217200 shares 851 851

Accumulated earnings
673535 368340

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
2203 96958

Total Common Stockholders Investment
1358990 949508

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND COMMON STOCKHOLDERS INVESTMENT $2.704.112 $2.552.651

See notes to consolidated financial statements



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Statements of Common Stockholders Investment

Balance at January 2007

Issuance of common stock 10662360 shares

Issuance of common stock

to purchase DBT 942952 shares

Income tax benefit from exercised stock options and

SARs and vesting of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Board of directors fees paid with Company stock

Net earnings

Dividends declared

Adoption of FIN 48

Currency translation adjustments

Change in pension and postretirement unrecognized

costs net of income taxes of $5811

Change in fair value of derivative instruments net of

income tax benefit of $5073

Balance at December 31 2007

Issuance of common stock under employee plans

net of stock redeemed for taxes 75951 shares

Two-for-one stock
split

Income tax benefit from exercised SARs and vesting

of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Board of directors fees paid with Company stock

Net earnings

Dividends declared

Currency translation adjustments

Change in pension and postretirement unrecognized

costs net of income tax benefit of $15759

Change in fair value of derivative instruments net of

income tax benefit of $13305

Balance at December 31 2008

Issuance of common stock under employee plans

net of stock redeemed for taxes 194028 shares

Income tax benefit from exercised SARs and vesting

of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Board of directors fees paid with Company stock

Net earnings

Dividends declared

Currency translation adjustments

Change in pension and postretirement unrecognized

costs net of income tax expense of $5472

Change in fair value of derivative instruments net of

income tax expense of $13542

Balance at December 31 2009

Additional

Common Paid-In Treasury Accumulated

Stock Capital Stock Earnings

Dollars in thousands

$317 $306981

53 335919

21777

265

6171

228

671341

376

1298
376

1322

7056

181

678226

4915

2331

11889

225

$851 $13451

136134

6920
105

851 142560

233315

7535

851 368340

312703

7508

$Z $687756 $1 $673535

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Loss

$23902

16811

12034

7518
2575

43351

27846

23186
96958

62410

8281

24064

$2203

See notes to consolidated financial statements



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net earnings $312703 $233315 $136134

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash

provided by operating activities

Depreciation 41544 36860 25438

Amortization 22283 22461 31575

Stock-based compensation expense 11889 7056 6171

Stock issued in payment of directors fees 225 181 228

Deferred income taxes 34543 3069 65548
Loss on disposal of property plant and

equipment 3704 159 532

Changes in assets and liabilities excluding

effects of acquisitions

Receivables 77249 235736 19519
Inventories 25918 147629 35696
Other current assets 2524 14119 26948
Other assets 6321 662 42267
Current liabilities other than income taxes

and current maturities of long-term debt

and short-term obligations 195058 207447 62210
Income taxes 18864 14246 50157

Long-term liabilities other than deferred

income taxes 14244 6107 95542

Net cash provided by operating activities 138549 154855 93589

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property plant and equipment 59268 112013 96268
Proceeds from disposal of property plant and 1475 5581 1923

equipment

Purchases of investments 11903 5978
Proceeds from sale of investments 11606 6486

Acquisitions including acquisition of DBT GmbH 12795 24058 707610
DBT GmbH acquisition closing adjustments for

liabilities assumed 26549

Other 3578 1745 58

Net cash used in investing activities 74463 128237 775464



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows continued

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net repayments of borrowings from revolving credit

facilities $55157 $40027 $63996
Proceeds from term loan facility 825000

Repayment of term loan facility 5056 5981 326267
Proceeds from long-term debt and other bank

borrowings 1171 9445 3481

Repayments of long-term debt and other bank

borrowings 9378 3443 24657
Payment of financing expenses 6000 528 15678
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 336289

Payments under capital lease agreements 612 3188
Tax benefit related to share-based payment awards 2332 1322 265

Dividends paid 7445 7435 6868
Other 173 34

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 80318 30219 727603

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 14920 15553 5809

Net decrease increase in cash and cash

equivalents 1312 41284 51537

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 102396 61112 9575

Cash and cash equivalentsatend of year $101.084 $102.396 $61.112

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for

Interest $27172 $28304 $23818

Income taxes net of refunds $127261 $90582 $39305

Gross borrowings from revolving credit facilities $701676 $334390 $289925

Gross repayments of revolving credit facilities $756833 $294363 $353584

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH
INVESTING ACTIVITY

Capital expenditures included in accounts payable $2730 $7416 $621



Bucyrus International Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows continued

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH
INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Liabilities assumed for acquisitions were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Fair value of assets acquired $14117 $45870 $1303989

Cash paid 14132 22782 694822
Fair value of Company common stock issued 21782
Acquisition expenses paid or accrued 640 14601

Liabilities assumed $15 $22.448 $572784

See notes to consolidated financial statements



Bucyrus International Inc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Bucyrus International Inc the Company is Delaware corporation and leading

designer manufacturer and marketer of high productivity mining equipment The Company

operates in two business segments surface mining and underground mining Major markets

for the surface mining industry are copper coal oil sands and iron ore The major market for

the underground mining industry is coal Most of the Companys surface mining customers are

large multinational corporations with operations in the various major surface mining markets

throughout the world Most of the Companys underground mining customers are multinational

coal mining corporations but tend to be smaller in size than its surface mining customers The

Company has more customers overall in its underground mining segment than in its surface

mining segment In addition to the manufacture of original equipment an important part of the

Companys business consists of aftermarket sales such as supplying parts maintenance and

repair services and technical advice as well as refurbishing and relocating older installed

original equipment The Company has manufacturing facilities in Australia China the Czech

Republic Germany and the United States and service and sales centers in Australia Brazil

Canada Chile China England Germany India Mexico Peru Russia South Africa and the

United States

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses Actual results could

differ from those estimates

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all subsidiaries All significant

intercompany transactions profits and accounts have been eliminated

Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased are

considered to be cash equivalents The carrying value of these investments approximates fair

value

Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost first-in first-out method or net realizable value The

cost of finished goods and work in progress includes the cost of raw materials other direct costs

and production overheads Net realizable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary

course of business less the cost of completion and selling Provision is made to reduce the cost to

net realizable value for obsolete and slow-moving inventories Advances from customers are

netted against inventories to the extent of related accumulated costs Advances in excess of

related costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts are classified as liability to customers

Advances netted against inventory costs were $2.8 million and $0.1 million at December 31 2009

and 2008 respectively



Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized and are reviewed

annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators arise Intangible assets consist

primarily of technology customer relationships engineering drawings trademarks trade names

and backlog see Note

Property Plant and Equipment

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of respective assets using the

straight-line method for financial reporting and accelerated methods for income tax purposes

Estimated useful lives used for financial reporting purposes range from 10 to 40 years for

buildings and improvements and three to 17 years for machinery and equipment

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that

indicate the remaining estimated useful lives of property plant and equipment and intangible

assets with finite lives may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of each may not be

recoverable

Financial Instruments

Based on Company estimates the carrying amounts of cash equivalents receivables

accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated fair value at December 31 2009 and 2008

The fair value of the Companys term loan was $469.7 million and $413.1 million at December 31
2009 and December 31 2008 respectively

Foreign Currency Translation

The assets and liabilities of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are translated into United

States dollars using year-end exchange rates Sales and expenses are translated at average

rates during the year Adjustments resulting from this translation are deferred and reflected as

separate component of Common Stockholders Investment Gains and losses from foreign

currency transactions are included in selling general and administrative expenses in the

Consolidated Statements of Earnings Transaction losses totaled $7.7 million $3.5 million and

$2.5 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Transaction

gains and losses on intercompany advances to foreign subsidiaries for which settlement is not

planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future are deferred and reflected as component of

Common Stockholders Investment

Derivative Financial Instruments

On January 2009 the Company adopted new accounting guidance regarding disclosures

about derivative instruments and hedging activities This guidance requires enhanced disclosures

regarding an entitys derivatives and hedging activities including how and why an entity uses

derivative instruments how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for

and how the derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial position

results of operations and cash flows

The Company enters into contracts for certain derivative financial instruments to mitigate

foreign exchange rate risk of specific foreign currency denominated transactions and to manage
and preserve the economic value of cash flows in non-functional currencies The Company also

enters into contracts for certain derivative financial instruments to mitigate interest rate risk The



Company has designated substantially all of these contracts as either cash flow hedges or fair

value hedges The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or other

speculative purposes

The contractual amounts of the Companys outstanding foreign currency forward contracts

by currency were as follows

December 31

2009 2008

Buy Sell Buy Sell

Dollars in thousands

United States dollar $1 1000 $55763 $25475

Australian dollar 29485 18548 26439 15415

Brazilian real 3912 3644

British pounds sterling 14025 2106 13734 440

Canadian dollars 8492

Chilean peso 37798 1250 15561 2738

Czech koruna 264 4267

Euro 213299 5639 446512 3753

Peruvian sol 1525

Mexican peso 858

Polish zloty 1894 364

Russian ruble 675 3595

South African rand 1584 168 3860

$306.546 $104308 $532.520 $30.708

Based upon December 31 2009 foreign currency exchange rates all of the Companys

outstanding contracts were recorded at fair value

The Company conducts its business on multinational basis in wide variety of foreign

currencies and hedges foreign currency exposures arising from various receivables liabilities and

expected inventory purchases Derivative instruments that are utilized to hedge the foreign

currency risk associated with anticipated inventory purchases in foreign currencies are designated

as cash flow hedges Gains and losses on these instruments to the extent that they have been

effective are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income loss and recognized in

earnings when the related inventory is sold Ineffectiveness related to these hedge instruments

that was recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings consisted of losses of $5.3

million $6.8 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively The maturity of these instruments generally does not exceed 24 months The

Consolidated Statements of Earnings also includes $2.7 million of losses for the year ended

December 31 2009 as result of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges because the original

forecasted transaction did not occur within the original specified time period or the two months

thereafter The accumulated other comprehensive loss net of tax related to foreign currency

forward contracts was $1.6 million and $13.8 million at December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively The Company estimates that $1.5 of losses included in the $1.6 million loss will be

reclassified into earnings over the next 12 months

To manage portion of its exposure to changes in LIBOR-based interest rates on its

variable rate debt the Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements to effectively fix

the interest payments on $475.8 million $375.0 million plus 70.0 million of its term loan All of



the swaps in place at December 31 2009 have been designated as cash flow hedges of LIBOR

based interest payments The effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivatives is

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income loss while any ineffective portion is

recorded as an adjustment to interest expense The differential paid or received on the interest

rate swap is recognized as an adjustment to interest expense Interest rate swaps in place at

December 31 2009 were as follows

Interest

Amount Rate Maturity Date

Dollars in thousands

$150000 4.8800% May 2010

$50000 5.0940% May 2010

$50000 2.1750% January 30 2012

$50000 2.4000% January 28 2013

$50000 2.5975% January28 2014

$21606 1.9600% March 31 2012

$14404 2.2800% March3l20134

$36010 2.5180% March 312014

$21606 2.4900% March 31 2014

$25000 2.2100% April 12014

$7202 2.4900% April 120144

Excludes applicable spread of 1.50% to 1.75%

This swap together with $150 million interest rate

swap entered into in 2007 which was terminated in

2008 effectively fixes the interest rate at 4.88%

The Company has purchased effective May 2010

$200 million of interest rate swaps to extend the

maturity to May 2014 at the interest rate of 2.99%

This interest rate swap is denominated in euros

The Company recognized interest expense of $2.5 million $1.9 million and zero for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively related to the ineffective portion of

its interest rate swaps The accumulated other comprehensive loss net of tax related to interest

rate swaps was $5.0 million and $7.1 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The

Company estimates that $0.5 million of the $5.0 million loss net of tax will be reclassified into

earnings over the next 12 months

The pre-tax fair value of the Companys cash flow hedges related to foreign currency

forward contracts and interest rate swaps and the accounts in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

in which the gross amounts are included were as follows



December 31 2009

Dollars in thousands

Prepaid Other

Expenses Long-

and Term Accrued Pension

Other Assets Expenses and Other

Dollars in thousands

Interest rate swaps $301 $2917 $4531

Foreign currency forward contracts 1787 2551 885

Total designated $1787 $301 $5.468 $5416

December 31 2008

Prepaid

Expenses

and Accrued Pension

Other Expenses and Other

Dollars in thousands

Interest rate swaps $13191

Foreign currency forward contracts 5460 11096 7652

Total designated $5.460 $24.287 $7.652

The gross derivative gains and losses included in the Consolidated Statements of

Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated Statements of Earnings related to cash flow

hedges for the year ended December 31 2009 were as follows dollars in thousands

Gain Loss
Recognized in Other

Comprehensive Income

Interest rate swaps $6392
Foreign currency forward contracts 28611

Total $35003

Gain Loss
Reclassified From Other

Comprehensive Income Statement of Earnings Line Item

Interest rate swaps $2532 Interest expense

Foreign currency forward contracts 3631 Sales

Foreign currency forward contracts 12359 Cost of products sold

Foreign currency forward contracts 5081 Selling general and administrative expenses

Foreign currency forward contracts 2593 Other expense

Total $18934



Foreign currency forward contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts

Total

Gain Loss Recognized in

Earnings Due to

Ineffectiveness and

Amounts Excluded From

Effectiveness Testing

$178
5078

19
2701

$7.976

Statement of Earnings Line Item

Sales

Cost of products sold

Selling general and administrative expenses

Other expense

The gross gains and losses from derivatives

included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings

were as follows dollars in thousands

not designated as hedging instruments

for the year ended December 31 2009

Foreign currency forward contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts

Total

Gain Loss

$402

1486
4718

$5802

Statement of Earnings Line Item

Sales

Cost of product sold

Selling general and administrative expenses

Derivative instruments are subject to significant concentrations of credit risk to the banking

industry The Company manages counterparty credit risk by only entering into derivative

contracts with large commercial financial institutions The maximum amount of loss not

considering netting arrangements if any which the Company would incur if counterparties to

derivative instruments fail to meet their obligations was $3.9 million at December 31 2009 At

December 31 2009 the Company had no knowledge of any of counterparty default

The Company also has cross-currency foreign currency-denominated debt obligations that

are designated as hedges of the foreign currency exposure associated with its net investments

in non-United States operations The currency effects of the debt obligations are reflected in

other comprehensive income loss where they offset translation gains and losses recorded on

the Companys net investments in Germany The Company recognized loss of $4.0 million

and gain of $9.6 in other comprehensive income loss related to net investment hedges for

the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

The Company also uses natural hedges to mitigate risks associated with foreign currency

exposures For example oftentimes the Company has non-functional currency denominated

receivables from customers for which the exposure is partially mitigated by corresponding non
functional currency payable to vendor

Stock Split

All previously reported net earnings per share and number of shares in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one

split of the Companys common stock effective May 27 2008

Comprehensive Income Loss

The Company reports comprehensive income loss in addition to net earnings loss

Comprehensive income loss is more inclusive financial reporting method that includes

disclosure of financial information that historically has not been recognized in the calculation of net

earnings loss The Company reports comprehensive income loss and accumulated other



comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Statements of Common Stockholders Investment

Accumulated other comprehensive loss net of income taxes was as follows

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Currency translation adjustments $31189 $31221
Pension and postretirement benefit unrecognized

costs 26752 35033
Derivative fair value adjustments 6640 30704

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $2203 $96.958

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from long-term sales contracts such as for the manufacture of the Companys

original equipment and certain replacement parts is recognized using the percentage-of-

completion method due to the length of time to fully manufacture and assemble the Companys

original equipment or replacement parts The Company measures revenue recognized based on

the ratio of actual costs incurred to date in relation to total estimated costs to be incurred The

percentage-of-completion method of accounting for these contracts most accurately reflects the

status of these uncompleted contracts in the Companys consolidated financial statements and

most accurately measures the matching of revenues with expenses Revenue from all other types

of sales primarily sales of aftermarket parts net of estimated returns and allowances is

recognized when all of the following circumstances are satisfied persuasive evidence of an

arrangement exists the price is fixed or determinable collectibility is reasonably assured and

delivery has occurred or services have been rendered Criteria for revenue recognition is

generally met at the time products are shipped as the terms are FOB shipping point

Included in the current portion of liabilities to customers on uncompleted contracts and

warranties are advances in excess of related costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts of

$135.4 million and $202.2 million at December31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Warranty

Sales of the Companys products generally carry typical manufacturers warranties the

majority of which cover products for one year based on terms that are generally accepted in the

marketplace The Company records provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs as

revenue is recognized based on historical warranty loss experience and periodically adjusts these

provisions to reflect actual experience

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

Revenue received from shipping and handling fees is reflected in sales Shipping fee

revenue was insignificant for all periods presented Shipping and handling costs are included in

cost of products sold

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are provided to reflect temporary differences between the financial and tax

basis of assets and liabilities using presently enacted tax rates and laws valuation allowance is

recognized if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be

realized



Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued new

accounting guidance regarding business combinations This guidance defines how acquirers

recognize and measure the consideration transferred assets acquired liabilities assumed

noncontrolling interests and goodwill acquired at their fair values as of the acquisition date This

guidance became effective on prospective basis for fiscal years beginning after December 15

2008 The Company adopted this guidance effective January 2009 and it did not have

material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In September 2006 the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding fair value

measurements which establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure

about such fair value measurements This guidance defines fair value as the price that would

be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between

market participants at the measurement date This guidance classifies the inputs used to

measure the fair value into the following hierarchy

Level Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or

Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in

markets that are not active or

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities

Level Unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities

The Company adopted this guidance effective January 2008 and it did not have

material effect on the Companys financial position or results or operations

The Company has determined that its financial assets and liabilities are level in the fair

value hierarchy The Companys financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair

value were as follows

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Assets

Foreign currency exchange contracts $3635 $5541

Interest rate swaps 301

Total assets at fair value $3.936 $5.541

Liabilities

Foreign currency exchange contracts $6434 $23823

Interest rate swaps 7.447 13191

Total liabilities at fair value $13.881 $37014

Based on observable market transactions of forward currency prices

Based on observable market transactions of forward LIBOR or EURIBOR
rates

In March 2008 the FASB issued accounting guidance regarding disclosures about

derivative instruments and hedging activities This guidance requires enhanced disclosures

about an entitys derivatives and hedging activity and how they effect an entitys financial

position This guidance became effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after

November 15 2008 The Company adopted this guidance effective January 2009 and it did

not have material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations



In May 2009 the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding managements

assessment of subsequent events This guidance establishes general standards of accounting

for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial

statements are issued or are available to be issued In particular this guidance outlines the

period after the balance sheet date during which management of reporting entity should

evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the

financial statements ii the circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or

transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements and iii the

disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the

balance sheet date This guidance became effective on prospective basis for interim or annual

financial periods ending after June 15 2009 The Company adopted this guidance in June 2009

and it did not have material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In June 2009 the FASB issued the Accounting Standards Codification Codification The

Codification is the source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to be

applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP The use of the

Codification became effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods

ending after September 15 2009 The Company adopted the Codification in September 2009 and

it did not have material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In October 2009 the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding the accounting for

revenue in arrangements with multiple deliverables This guidance addresses how the unit of

accounting for arrangements involving multiple deliverables and how arrangement consideration

should be allocated to the separate units of accounting when applicable This guidance becomes

effective on prospective basis for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 The

Company is currently evaluating the impact that this new guidance will have on its consolidated

financial statements

NOTE ACQUISITIONS

DBT Acquisition

On May 2007 the Company completed its acquisition of DBT GmbH DBT from RAG

Coal International AG The net assets acquired and results of operations since the date of

acquisition are included in the Companys consolidated financial statements

Pro Forma Results of Operations

The following unaudited pro forma results of operations assumes that the Company

acquired DBT on January 2007 and includes the effects of the Companys debt refinancing

and equity offering in 2007 The unaudited pro forma results include adjustments to reflect

additional interest expense depreciation expense and amortization of intangibles as well as the

effects of adjustments made to the carrying value of certain assets Pro forma results for the

year ended December 31 2007 were as follows dollars in thousands except per share

amounts

Sales $1973904

Net earnings $146864

Net earnings per share

Basic $1.98

Diluted $1.96



The unaudited pro forma financial information presented above is not necessarily

indicative of either the results of operations that would have occurred had the acquisition of DBT

been effective on January 2007 or of the Companys future results of operations Also the

unaudited pro forma financial information does not reflect the costs that the Company incurred

to integrate DBT These costs have not been material to date and the Company does not

expect them to be material in the future

Finished parts and work in process inventories were adjusted to their estimated fair

market value Finished parts were valued at their estimated selling prices less the sum of

costs of disposal and reasonable profit allowance for the Companys selling effort and

work in process was valued at estimated selling prices of finished goods less the sum of

costs to complete costs of disposal and reasonable profit allowance for the completing

and selling effort of the Company based on profit for similar finished goods As this inventory

adjustment was directly attributed to the transaction and did not have continuing impact it is

not reflected in the unaudited pro forma results of operations presented above However this

inventory adjustment resulted in charge to cost of products sold in the periods subsequent to

the consummation of the acquisition of DBT during which the related inventories were sold The

actual charge for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was zero $12.1 million

and $23.3 million respectively This inventory adjustment was fully amortized as of December

31 2008

Other Acquisitions

In 2008 the Company acquired two businesses Based on the fair value of assets acquired

and expected revenues the Company concluded that they are not material in the aggregate

Consequently there are no disclosures required for these acquisitions

NOTE RECEIVABLES

Receivables at December 31 2009 and 2008 included $384.5 million and $209.7 million

respectively of revenues from long-term contracts which were not billable at these dates Billings

on long-term contracts are made in accordance with the terms as defined in the individual

contracts The unbilled receivables are for contracts that were near completion as of the balance

sheet dates and collection of amounts due was scheduled to be within the next 12 months of such

dates

Current receivables were reduced by an allowance for losses of $7.1 million and $8.4 million

at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

NOTE INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Raw materials and parts $75111 $103586

Work in process 202221 242224

Finished products primarily replacement parts 349957 270900

$627.289 $616.710



NOTE GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill is not subject to amortization but instead is subject to an evaluation for impairment

at least annually by applying two-step fair-value-based test Additionally intangible assets with

indefinite lives are not amortized but are subject to an evaluation for impairment at least annually

Intangible assets with finite lives continue to be amortized over period of five to 20 years The

Companys annual impairment testing date is December 31 No impairment resulted from the

Companys annual impairment testing during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007

Intangible assets consisted of the following

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Weighted Gross Weighted Gross

Average Carrying Accumulated Average Carrying Accumulated

Life Amount Amortization Life Amount Amortization

Years Dollars in thousands Years Dollars in thousands

Amortized intangible

assets

Technology 10-12 $121085 $26846 10-12 $115580 $15972
Customer

relationships 20 118791 15584 20 115400 9333
Engineering

drawings 20 25500 15644 20 25500 14369
Backlog 8000 8000 8000 8000
Trademarks 0.7 12000 12000 0.7 12000 12000
Other 5-20 5855 4813 5-20 5855 4646

$291 .231 $82.887 $282.335 $64.320

Unamortized intangible

assets

Trademarks/Trade

names $12.436 $12.436

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows

Surface Underground

Mining Mining

Dollars in thousands

Balance at January 2008 $47306 $269932

Goodwill acquired during the year 12973

Balance at December 31 2008 47306 282905

Goodwill acquired during the year 11765

Currency translation 9.357

Balance at December 31 2009 $47.306 $304.027



Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was $18.9 million $19.4 million and

$29.2 million for the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

estimated future amortization expense of finite-lived intangible assets is as follows dollars in

thousands

Year Amount

2010 $18543

2011 18543

2012 18543

2013 18543

2014 18543

Future 115628

$208343

NOTE ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Wages and salaries $61387 $61880

Other 111478 147573

$172865 $209.453

NOTE LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Long-term debt consisted of the following

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Revolving credit facility $55157

Term loan facility 496599 497658

Other 10633 18231

507232 571046

Less current maturities of long-term debt and

short-term obligations 7566 69291

$499.666 $501 .755

The Companys credit facilities include secured revolving credit facility of $357.5 million

an unsecured German revolving credit facility of 65.0 million each of which mature on May

2012 and term loan facility of $400.0 million plus 75.0 million with maturity date of May

2014 The entire secured revolving credit facility may be used for letters of credit At December

31 2009 the Company had no borrowings under its secured or unsecured revolving credit

facilities At December 31 2008 the Company classified the entire revolving credit facility

balance of $55.2 million as current maturities of long-term debt and short-term obligations

because it intended to repay the outstanding balance within 12 months

Borrowings under the secured revolving credit facility bear interest payable no less

frequently than quarterly at LIBOR plus between 1.25% and 1.75% based on the

Companys total leverage ratio for United States dollar denominated LIBOR loans ii base



rate determined by reference to the greater of the United States prime lending rate and the

federal funds rate plus between 0.25% and 0.75% based on the Companys total leverage

ratio for United States dollar denominated base rate loans and iii EURIBOR plus between

1.25% and 1.75% based on the Companys total leverage ratio for euro denominated loans

The interest rates under the secured revolving credit facility are subject to change based on the

Companys total leverage ratio The unsecured German revolving credit facility bears interest

payable no less frequently than quarterly at EURIBOR plus between 1.25% and 1.75% based

on the Companys total leverage ratio Under each revolving credit facility the Company has

agreed to pay commitment fee based on the unused portion of such facilities payable

quarterly at rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.50% depending on the total leverage ratio and when

applicable customary letter of credit fees Borrowings under the term loan facility bear interest

payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR plus 1.50% for United States dollar

denominated LIBOR loans ii the base rate plus 0.50% for United States dollar denominated

base rate loans and iii EURIBOR plus 1.75% for euro denominated loans

At December31 2009 the amount potentially available for borrowings under the

Companys secured revolving credit facility was $282.5 million after taking into account $75.0

million of issued letters of credit The amount potentially available for borrowings under the

Companys unsecured German credit facility at December 31 2009 was $54.1 million 37.8
million after taking into account $39.0 million 27.2 million of issued letters of credit At

December 31 2009 the Company had borrowings under its term loan facility of $496.6 million

$391.0 million plus 73.3 million To manage portion of its exposure to changes in LIBOR
based interest rates the Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements that

effectively fix the interest payments on $475.8 million $375.0 million plus 70.0 million of

outstanding borrowings under its term loan facility at weighted average interest rate of 3.4%

plus the applicable spread The remaining $20.8 million $16.0 million plus 3.3 million of

outstanding term loan borrowings at December 31 2009 were at weighted average interest

rate of 1.9% plus the applicable spread

The Companys obligations under its credit facilities are guaranteed on joint and several

basis by certain of its domestic subsidiaries In addition the Companys obligations under its

secured revolving credit facility and its term loan facility are secured by security interest in

substantially all of its consolidated tangible and intangible domestic assets subject to certain

exceptions as well as 100% of the outstanding capital stock of its domestic subsidiaries and

65% of the voting stock and 100% of the non-voting stock of certain of its first-tier foreign

subsidiaries

The Companys credit facilities contain operating and financial covenants that among

other things could limit the Companys ability to obtain additional sources of capital The

financial covenants require the Company to maintain total leverage ratio calculated on

trailing four-quarters basis of not more than 3.5 to 1.0 The total leverage ratio is calculated as

the ratio of consolidated indebtedness which is net of cash to adjusted EBITDA as defined in

the credit facilities At December 31 2009 the Company was in compliance with all covenants

and other requirements under its credit facilities

For the year ended December 31 2009 the average revolving credit facility borrowings

under the Companys credit agreements were $53.5 million at weighted average interest rate of

2.2% and the maximum borrowing outstanding was $123.8 million For the year ended

December 31 2008 the average borrowings under the revolving portion of the Companys credit

agreement were $17.9 million at weighted average interest rate of 3.9% and the maximum

borrowing outstanding was $101.0 million

At December31 2009 and 2008 there were $188.5 million and $218.3 million respectively

of standby letters of credit outstanding under all of the Companys bank facilities



Maturities of long-term debt and short-term obligations for each of the next five years are as

follows dollars in thousands

Year Amount

2010 $7566

2011 $6519

2012 $6032
2013 $5467
2014 $476840

NOTE COMMON STOCKHOLDERS INVESTMENT

On April 24 2008 the Companys stockholders approved an amendment to the

Companys Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate all references to

Class common stock and rename the Companys Class common stock as common stock

On April 30 2008 the Companys stockholders approved an amendment to the

Companys Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation increasing the number of

authorized shares of common stock from 75 million to 200 million Also on April 30 2008 the

Company announced two-for-one split of its common stock in the form of 100% stock

dividend The stock dividend was paid on May 27 2008 to stockholders of record on May 13

2008 and the Companys common stock began trading on split-adjusted basis on May 28

2008 All previously reported net earnings per share and number of shares in the

accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been adjusted to

reflect this stock split

At December 31 2009 the Company had 10000000 shares of authorized preferred

stock and the Companys issued and outstanding shares consisted only of common stock

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by the

Companys common stockholders

NOTE STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

At December 31 2009 the Company had 2909526 shares of its common stock available

for awards under the Bucyrus International Inc Omnibus Incentive Plan 2007 Omnibus Plan
The Omnibus Plan expires on the tenth anniversary of its effective date unless terminated

earlier by the Companys Board of Directors The Omnibus Plan provides for the grant of equity

based awards including restricted or nonvested stock restricted stock units stock options

stock appreciation rights SARs and other equity based awards to the Companys directors

officers and other employees advisors and consultants and those of the Companys
subsidiaries who are selected by the Compensation Committee of the Companys Board of

Directors for participation in the Omnibus Plan Also at December 31 2009 the Company had

492000 shares of its common stock available for future grants under its 1998 Management

Stock Option Plan The Compensation Committee of the Companys Board of Directors

determines all of the terms and conditions of awards under the plan including whether the

vesting or payment of an award will be subject to the attainment of performance goals

The Company recognizes compensation expense for nonvested shares SARs and stock

options over the requisite service period for vesting of the award Total stock-based

compensation expense included in the Companys Consolidated Statements of Earnings was

$11.9 million $7.1 million and $6.2 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

Nonvested Shares The Company has granted nonvested shares to certain employees

The nonvested shares cliff vest in their entirety at the end of the fourth calendar year from the



grant date inclusive of the year of grant provided the employee remains employed by the

company until such date or has qualifying retirement prior to such date Compensation

expense related to nonvested shares was $3.8 million $2.8 million and $2.7 million for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Nonvested share activity was as follows

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Grant Date of Grant Date of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at

January 206688 $31.59 391262 $21.46 396300 $20.20

Granted 301350 $13.80 58100 $50.66 90050 $27.45

Forfeited 49150 $20.84 12100 $29.25 1200 $34.19

Vested 88688 $21.45 230574 $19.32 93888 $21.72

Nonvested at

December 31 370.200 $20.97 206.688 $31.59 391.262 $21 .46

At December 31 2009 there was $4.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense

related to nonvested share grants This cost is expected to be recognized over weighted-

average period of 2.5 years The grant date fair value was based on the fair market value of the

Companys common stock on the date of grant At December 31 2009 the Company expected

approximately 341000 shares to vest and these shares had an aggregate intrinsic value of

$19.2 million and weighted-average remaining contractual term of 2.6 years The total fair

value of shares vested during 2009 2008 and 2007 was $5.0 million $8.4 million and $4.4

million respectively

Premium Nonvested Shares In 2006 the Company granted premium nonvested

shares to certain employees These shares partially vested if specific performance levels were

attained by the Company The Company did attain the specific performance levels for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 and all premium nonvested shares credited

to employees fully cliff vested on December 31 2009 Compensation expense related to

premium nonvested shares was $2.2 million $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Premium nonvested share activity was as follows

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Grant Date of Grant Date of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at

January 178498 $21.61 187774 $21.72 175050 $21.54

Granted 12724 $24.23

Forfeited 3950 $25.97 9276 $23.89

Vested 174548 $40.88

Nonvested at

December31 178.498 $21.61 187.774 $21.72



All compensation expense related to vested premium nonvested share grants has been

recognized as of December 31 2009 The grant date fair value was based on the fair market

value of the Companys common stock on the date of grant

SARs The Company has granted SARs to certain employees The SARs vest

incrementally and can be settled in shares only Compensation expense related to SARs was

$5.9 million $3.8 million and $2.9 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

SAR activity was as follows

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Grant Date of Grant Date of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Outstanding at

January 1207540 $14.20 1004950 $11.59 700200 $10.68

Granted 1223100 $7.53 277150 $23.51 316300 $13.68

Forfeited 170414 $10.32 40680 $14.64 4800 $16.79

Exercised 10360 $13.95 33880 $12.35 6750 $11.93

Outstanding at

December31 2.249.866 $10.87 1.207.540 $14.20 1.004.950 $11.59

Vested and

exercisable at

December31 958.884 $11.46 407.565 $11.72 68.360 $10.65

At December 31 2009 there was $9.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense

related to SARs that are vested or expect to vest This cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 2.5 years The grant date fair value of the SAR5 was calculated

using the Black-Sholes pricing model The assumptions used in this model were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Risk-free interest rate 2.82% 3.49% 4.66%

Expected stock price volatility 58.00% 42.00% 42.00%

Expected life 6.5 years 6.5 years years

Dividend yield 0.70% 0.19% 0.41%

The risk-free interest rate was based on the United States Government Treasury strips

rate on the date of grant and with maturity equal to the expected life of the SARs The

expected stock price volatility was based on the historical activity of the Companys common

stock The expected life was calculated using the simplified method for plain-vanilla

issuances The expected dividend yield was based on the annual dividends that have been

paid on the Companys common stock At December 31 2009 approximately 1450000 of the

outstanding SARs were vested or were expected to vest and these SARs had an intrinsic value

of $46.4 million and weighted-average remaining contractual life of 8.7 years



Stock Options There was no compensation expense related to stock options for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 and there was no stock option activity in 2009

or 2008 Stock option activity for the year ended December 31 2007 was as follows

Weighted

Number Average

of Grant Date

Ortions Fair Value

Outstanding at January

19200 $8.33

Granted

Forfeited

Exercised 19200 $8.33

Outstanding at December 31

Exercisable at December 31

For the year ended December 31 2007 net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock

options was $0.1 million and the income tax benefit realized from these exercises was $0.1

million

NOTE INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes consisted of the following

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

United States $207757 $192089 $72015

Foreign 239511 158909 74543

Total $447.268 $350998 $146.558

The provision for income tax expense consisted of the following

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Foreign income taxes

Current $51739 $50447 $46162

Deferred 12767 3273 36586

Total 64506 47174 9576

Federal income taxes

Current 61668 66220 27205
Deferred 4057 238 26739

Total 65725 66458 466

Other state and local taxes
Current 4134 4085 2605

Deferred 200 34 2223

Total 4334 4051 382

Total incometaxexpense $134.565 $117683 $10424

Total income tax expense differs from amounts expected by applying the federal statutory

income tax rate to earnings before income taxes as follows



Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Tax expense at federal statutory rate $156544 $122849 $51296

Impact of foreign subsidiary income and tax rates 16367 9462 14955
Tax impact of repatriation of non-United States

earnings and foreign tax credits 18725
Deferred impact of statutory tax rate change 446 187 12244
Uncertain tax benefits 783 6521 891

Other items 5949 2412 4161

Total incometaxexpense $134565 $117683 $10424

Significant components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Postretirement benefits $7313 $6991

Pension benefits 15199 27791

Accrued and other liabilities 21469 15023

Stock-based compensation 5767 4459

Tax loss carry forward 9281 11340

Foreign tax credit carry forward 18108

Unrealized losses on foreign currency and

derivative financial instruments 8066 20075

Other items 8876 5658

75971 109445

Less valuation allowance 2.988 7163

Total deferred tax assets 72983 102282

Deferred tax liabilities

Excess of book basis over tax basis of property

plant and equipment and intangible assets 120625 104359
Contract related expenses 21356 7439

Total deferred tax liabilities 141981 111798

Net deferred tax liability $68998 $9.51

The classification of the net deferred tax liability was as follows

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Current deferred tax assets $45024 $53133

Long-term deferred tax assets 2493 13227

Current deferred tax liabilities 34255 22981
Long-term deferred tax liabilities 82260 52895

Net deferred tax liability $68998 $9.516

The long-term deferred tax asset is included in other assets and the current deferred tax

liability is included in income taxes in the Consolidated Balance Sheets



valuation allowance must be used to reduce the net deferred tax assets to an amount

that is more likely than not to be realized Currently the Company has valuation allowances

established for United States state net operating loss NOL carryforwards and United Kingdom

India Poland and South Africa deferred tax assets summary of the valuation allowance was as

follows

Balance at Additions Deductions

Beginning of Allowance Allowance Balance at

Year Established Reversal End of Year

Dollars in thousands

Year ended December 31 2007 $2767 $7550 $358 $9959

Year ended December 31 2008 $9959 $2796 $7163

Year ended December 31 2009 $7163 $1536 $5711 $2988

At December 31 2009 the Company had $21.7 million of state NOL carryforwards which

expire in the years 2010 through 2019 available to offset future state taxable income in various

states

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are considered to be

permanently reinvested and on which United States income taxes have not been provided by the

Company amounted to approximately $460 million at December 31 2009 It is not practicable to

estimate the amount of additional tax which would be payable upon repatriation of such earnings

however due to foreign tax credit limitations higher effective United States income tax rates and

foreign withholding taxes additional taxes could be incurred

Unrecognized tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements were as

follows

2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Balance at January $17977 $1574 $721

Gross increases related to prior period tax positions 10970

Gross increases related to current period tax positions 2153 5368 643

Gross increases related to prior periods of acquired companies 203 46

Lapse of statue of limitations and settlements 1951
Foreign currency translation 590 138 64

Balance at December 31 $1 8.769 $17977 $1574

At December 31 2009 the Company had $18.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits

$3.9 million of which would impact its effective tax rate if recognized At December 31 2008

the Company had $18.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits $4.9 million of which would impact

its effective tax rate if recognized The Company reasonably estimates that the gross amount of

unrecognized tax benefits for prior tax period positions will decrease by $3.4 million in the next

12 months due to the close of an open tax year The estimated decrease in the reserve relates

primarily to uncertainty concerning intercompany transactions However the Company cannot

reasonably estimate the change in reserve due to tax positions expected to be taken during

2010

The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters as

component of income tax expense Expense for interest and penalties for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $0.3 million $2.8 million and $0.1 million

respectively The Company has provided for $3.4 million and $3.1 million of accrued interest

and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively



The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the United States

federal jurisdiction and in various state and foreign jurisdictions Open tax years related to

United States state jurisdictions remain subject to examination but are not considered material

The Company is subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities in its major jurisdictions

as follows

Tax Jurisdiction Years Open to Audit

United States Federal 1991 1992 2006

2007 2008 2009

Australia 2005 through 2009

Brazil 2004 through 2009

Canada 1998 through 2009

Chile 2004 through 2009

Germany 2007 through 2009

South Africa 2007 through 2009

NOTE PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company has several pension and retirement plans covering certain of its employees

in the United States and Europe All plans have measurement date of December 31

The Bucyrus International Inc Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP
provides an allocation to the Companys senior management equal to the amount that cannot be

allocated to such employees under the Companys cash balance pension plan due to the Internal

Revenue Service-imposed annual compensation limits Benefits are to be paid under the SERP

upon the employees separation from service in lump sum or in five or 10 annual installments

as the participating employee elects



The Companys defined benefit pension and retirement plans funded status and amounts

recognized in the consolidated financial statements was as follows

United States Plans Non-United States Plans

2009 2008 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Change in projected benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation at January $107563 $95277 $105079 $113213

Service cost 6865 5105 305 523

Interest cost 6471 5774 6299 6082

Plan amendments 1308

Actuarial gain loss 370 6757 9924 4787
Benefits paid 7764 6658 5269 4994
Currency translation 2695 4958

Projected benefit obligation at December31 112765 107563 119033 105079

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at January 58768 77975

Actual return on plan assets 20193 26750
Employer contributions 27771 14201 5269 4994

Benefits paid 7764 6658 5269 4994

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 98968 58768

Unfunded status at December31 $13797 $48795 $1 19.033 $105079

Amounts recognized in the consolidated

balance sheets at December 31
Accrued expenses $7066 $6810
Pension and other 13797 48795 111967 98269

$1 3.797 $48795 $119033 $105079

Amounts recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive loss at December 31
Net loss gain net of income tax benefit

expense of $16303 $22982 $2392
and $4079 respectively $27822 $39219 $5084 $8667

Prior service cost net of income tax benefit

of $1483 $1698 $0 and $0 respectively 2531 2898

Net amount recognized $30.353 $42.1 17 $5084 $8.667

United States Plans Non-United States Plans

2009 2008 2009 2008

Weighted-average assumptions used to

determine benefit obligations at December 31
Discount rate 6.35% 6.20% 5.50% 6.20%

Rate of compensation increase 3.5% 4% 2% 2%

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $228.9 million

and $210.0 million at December31 2009 and 2008 respectively Pension plans with an

accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets were as follows



United States Plans Non-United States Plans

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Projected benefit obligation $112765 $107563 $119033 $105079

Accumulated benefit obligation $1 10721 $105758 $118210 $104217

Fair value of plan assets $98968 $58768

The components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other

comprehensive income loss were as follows

United States Plans Non-United States Plans

Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Net periodic benefit cost

Service cost $6865 $5104 $2595 $305 $523 $764

Interest cost 6471 5774 5415 6299 6082 3507

Expected return on plan assets 6089 6887 6169
Amortization of prior service cost 583 464 452

Amortization of net actuarial loss

gain 3601 1148 1253 160

Net periodic benefit cost 11431 5603 3546 6604 6445 4271

Other changes in plan assets and

benefit obligations recognized in

other comprehensive income

loss
Net gain loss 11396 24745 1122 477 9144
Net prior service cost 367 534 186

Total recognized in other

comprehensive income loss 11763 25279 1308 477 9144

Total recognized in net periodic

benefit cost and other

comprehensive income loss $332 $30882 $2.238 $6.604 $6922 $4.873

Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine net periodic

benefit cost for the year
Discount rate 6.20% 6.25% 5.75% 6.20% 5.50% 4.5%

Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%

Rate of compensation increase 3.75% 4% 4% 2% 2% 1.75%

The Companys Benefit Plan Committee Committee under the guidance of the

Companys Board of Directors Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee oversees

investment matters related to all of the Companys funded benefit plans The Committee works

with external actuaries and investment consultants on an ongoing basis to establish and monitor

investment strategies and target asset allocations Forecasted cash flows for plan liabilities are

regularly updated based on annual valuation results Target allocations are determined based

upon an asset and liability study for each respective plan The study is intended to reduce risk

provide long-term financial stability for the plans and maintain funded levels which meet long

term plan obligations while preserving sufficient liquidity for near-term benefit payments



In selecting the expected long-term rate of return on assets the Committee considered the

average rate of earnings expected on the classes of funds invested or to be invested to provide

for the benefits of these plans This included considering the trusts targeted asset allocation for

the year and the expected returns likely to be earned over the next 20 years The assumptions

used for the return of each asset class are conservative when compared to long-term historical

returns

The Companys pension plans weighted-average actual and targeted asset allocations by

asset category were as follows

United States Plans

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Actual Target Actual Target

Asset category

Equity securities 65% 65% 61% 65%
Debt securities 35% 35% 39% 35%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

The desired investment objective is long-term real rate of return on assets that is

approximately 6% greater than the assumed rate of inflation measured by the Consumer Price

Index currently assumed to be approximately 2.5% The target rate of return for the plans has

been based upon an analysis of historical returns supplemented with an economic and structural

review of each asset class The Committee realizes that market performance varies and that 6%

real rate of return may not be meaningful during some periods The Committee also realizes that

historical performance is no guarantee of future performance

To achieve these goals the minimum and maximum allocation ranges for fixed securities

and equity securities are as follows

United States Plans

Minimum Maximum

Equity 61% 69%

Fixed 31% 39%

Cash equivalents 0% 4%

Investment in international oriented equity funds is limited to maximum of 18.25% of the

equity range

The Companys current United States pension plan asset allocation is 65% equity

investments and 35% fixed income investments The equity investments portfolio consists of

mutual funds invested in large-cap disciplined stocks 40% small/mid cap stocks 9% emerging

market stocks 4% and international stocks 12% The fixed income portfolio consists of mutual

funds invested in core fixed income bonds 28% high yield bonds 3.5% and emerging market

debt 3.5%



The following table summarizes the fair value of the Companys United States pension

plan assets by asset category at December 31 2009 within the fair value hierarchy for further

level information see Note dollars in thousands

Asset category Level

Equities

U.S equity $48672

International equity 15991

Fixed income

Long-term bonds 34305

Total $98.968

This category represents investment grade and

below investment grade bonds of United States

and foreign issuers denominated in United States

dollars from diverse industries

Future contributions to the plans will be dependent on many factors including the

performance of existing plan assets and long-term discount rates

The Company expects to contribute $1 1.2 million to its domestic pension plans and $7.1

million to its non-United States pension plans in 2010 Upon completion of an analysis of the

funded status of the Companys domestic pension plans additional contributions may be made in

2010

Estimated future benefit payments from the Companys pension plans are as follows

United States Non-United States

Plans Plans

Dollars in thousands

2010 $9459 $7066

2011 $8600 $7218

2012 $9635 $7379

2013 $10799 $7457

2014 $11041 $7834

2015-2019 $65343 $39487

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the United States defined benefit pension

plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit

cost in 2010 are $2.3 million and $0.6 million respectively The estimated net gain for the non
United States defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other

comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit cost in 2010 is zero

The Company has 401k Savings Plans available to substantially all United States

employees Matching employer contributions are made in accordance with plan provisions subject

to certain limitations Matching employer contributions made were $3.9 million $3.9 million and

$3.1 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively



NOTE CALCULATION OF NET EARNINGS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK

Basic net earnings per share of common stock was computed by dividing net earnings by

the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding Diluted net earnings per

share of common stock was computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number

of shares of common stock outstanding after giving effect to dilutive securities The reconciliation

of the numerators and the denominators of the basic and diluted net earnings per share of

common stock calculations were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Net earnings $312703 $233.315 $136.134

Weighted average shares

outstanding 74.456.969 74.350.939 70.014.440

Basic net earnings

pershare $4.20 $3.14 $1.94

Weighted average shares

outstanding 74456969 74350939 70014440

Effect of dilutive nonvested shares

stock appreciation rights and

performance shares 1423894 854081 700900

Weighted average shares

outstanding diluted 75.880.863 75.205.020 70.715.340

Diluted net earnings

pershare $4.12 $3.10 $1.93

Grants of nonvested shares stock appreciation rights and performance

shares representing approximately an additional 586000 149000 and zero

shares for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively were outstanding but were not included in the computation of

diluted net earnings per share because their effect would have been

antidilutive

NOTE SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The Company has two reportable segments surface mining and underground mining

which are based on the internal organization used by management for making operating

decisions measuring and evaluating financial performance allocating resources and based on

the similarity of customers served distinctive products and services common use of facilities

and economic results attained

The accounting policies of the Companys segments are the same as those described in

Note The operating earnings of each segment do not include interest income interest

expense other income and expense and provision for income taxes Corporate expenses

consist primarily of costs related to employees who provide services across both of the

Companys segments There are no significant intersegment sales Identifiable assets are

those used in the operations of each segment



Segment information was as follows

Year Ended December 31 2009

Depreciation

Operating and Capital Total

Sales Earnings Amortization Expenditures Assets

Dollars in thousands

Surface mining $1284996 $292754 $24536 $37581 $1106154

Underground mining 1366773 221616 35907 17.001 1597958

Total operations 2651769 514370 60443 54582 2704112

Corporate 39117

Consolidated total $2651 .769 475253 60443 $54582 $2.704.112

Interest income 5117
Interest expense 27017

Other expense 6085 3384

Earnings before income taxes $447.268 $63827

Year Ended December 31 2008

Depreciation

Operating and Capital Total

Sales Earnings Amortization Expenditures Assets

Dollars in thousands

Surface mining $1282519 $252713 $20505 $90406 $1139029

Underground mining 1223319 158778 35745 28402 1413622

Total operations 2505838 411491 56250 118808 2552651

Corporate 28860

Consolidated total $2.505838 382631 56250 $118.808 $2.552.651

Interest income 6206
Interest expense 34768

Other expense 3071 3071

Earnings before income taxes $350998 $59321

Year Ended December 31 2007

Depreciation

Operating and Capital Total

Sales Earnings Amortization Expenditures Assets

Dollars in thousands

Surface mining $927101 $165238 $16829 $81169 $781123

Underground mining 686290 18269 37790 15712 1287089

Total operations 1613391 183507 54619 96881 2068212

Corporate 10360

Consolidated total $1.61 3.391 173147 54.619 $96.881 $2068.21

Interest income 3523
Interest expense 27718

Other expense 2394 2394

Earnings before income taxes $146.558 $57013



Sales information was as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Surface Mining

Original equipment $534463 $622904 $398662

Aftermarket parts and service 750533 659615 528439

1284996 1282519 927101

Underground Mining

Original equipment 821019 737554 448252
Aftermarket parts and service 545754 485765 238038

1366773 1223319 686290

Total

Original equipment 1355482 1360458 846914

Aftermarket parts and service 1296287 1145380 766477

$2.651.769 $2505838 $1613391

Financial information by geographical area is set forth in the following table The sales

amounts represent the product shipment destination and long-lived assets are based on the

physical location of the assets The amounts previously reported for 2008 and 2007 represented

the sales originating in the respective geographic area

Year Ended Sales to Long Lived

December 31 External Customers Assets

Dollars in thousands

2009

United States $784707 $312294

Africa 115240 4409

Australia 319927 48009

Chile 308215 5153
Canada 205959 9411

Germany 115022 97893
Other foreign 802699 37252

$2651 769 $514421

2008

United States $670270 $299867

Africa 127524 2762

Australia 292022 39891

Chile 216527 4324

Canada 255938 11058

Germany 104777 95226

Other foreign 836780 35268

$2.505.838 $488396

2007

United States $388858 $226476

Africa 95033 4207

Australia 298294 48847

Chile 155785 4262



Canada 178583 7431

Germany 118000 94171

Other foreign 378838 25009

$1.613.391 $410.403

The Company does not consider itself to be dependent upon any single customer or group

of customers however on an annual basis single customer may account for large percentage

of its sales particularly original equipment sales For the year ended December 31 2009 one

customer accounted for approximately 14% of the Companys consolidated sales For the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007 no one customer accounted for more than 10% of the

Companys consolidated sales

NOTE COMMITMENTS CONTINGENCIES CREDIT RISKS AND CONCENTRATIONS

Environmental

The Companys operations and properties are subject to broad range of federal state

local and foreign laws and regulations relating to environmental matters including laws and

regulations governing discharges into the air and water the handling and disposal of solid and

hazardous substances and wastes and the remediation of contamination associated with

releases of hazardous substances at the Companys facilities and at off-site disposal locations

These laws are complex change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time

Future events such as required compliance with more stringent laws or regulations more

vigorous enforcement policies of regulatory agencies or stricter or different interpretations of

existing laws could require additional expenditures by the Company which may be material

Environmental problems have not interfered in any material respect with the Companys

manufacturing operations to date The Company believes that its compliance with statutory

requirements respecting environmental quality will not have material adverse effect on its

financial position results of operations or cash flows although no assurance to that effect can be

given The Company has an ongoing program to address potential environmental problems

Certain environmental laws such as the Federal Comprehensive Environmental

Response Compensation and Liability Act CERCLA provide for strict joint and several liability

for investigation and remediation of spills and other releases of hazardous substances Such laws

may apply to conditions at properties currently or formerly owned or operated by an entity or its

predecessors as well as to conditions at properties at which wastes or other contamination

attributable to an entity or its predecessors come to be located

The Company has previously been named as potentially responsible party under

CERCLA and analogous state laws at other sites throughout the United States The Company

believes it has determined its remediation liabilities with respect to the sites discussed above and

does not believe that any such remaining liabilities if any either individually or in the aggregate

will have material effect on its financial position results of operations or cash flows although no

assurance to that effect can be given The Company may incur additional liabilities with respect to

these sites in the future the costs of which could be material and may incur remediation liability in

the future with respect to sites formerly or currently owned or operated by the Company or with

respect to off-site disposal locations the costs of which could be material

Over the past three years expenditures for ongoing compliance remediation monitoring

and cleanup have been immaterial While no assurance can be given the Company believes that

expenditures for compliance and remediation will not have material effect on its financial

position results of operations or cash flows although no assurance to that effect can be given



Product Warranty

The Company recognizes the cost associated with its warranty policies on its products as

revenue is recognized The amount recognized is based on historical experience Changes in

accrued warranty costs were as follows

2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Balance at January $53586 $70909

Acquired balance 675

Provisions 32831 16715
Settlements 29563 202
Changes in liability for pre-existirig warranties net 10060 9959
Foreign currency translation 2.648 4543

Balance at December 31 $49442 $53.586

Product Liability

The Company is subject to numerous product liability claims many of which relate to

products no longer manufactured by the Company or its subsidiaries and other claims arising in

the ordinary course of business in federal and state courts Such claims are generally related to

property damage and to personal injury The Companys products are operated by its employees

and its customers employees and independent contractors at various work sites in the United

States and abroad In the United States workers claims against employers related to workplace

injuries are generally limited by state workers compensation statutes but such limitations do not

apply to equipment suppliers The Company has insurance covering most of these claims and

has various limits of liability depending on the insurance policy year in question At the time

liability associated with claim becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated the

Company accrues for the liability by charge to earnings For all other cases an estimate of the

costs associated with the matters cannot be made due to the inherent uncertainties in the litigation

process however the Company believes that the final resolution of these claims and other similar

claims which are likely to arise in the future will not individually or in the aggregate have material

effect on its financial position results of operations or cash flows although no assurance to that

effect can be given

Asbestos Liability

The Company has been named as co-defendant in numerous personal injury liability

cases alleging damages due to exposure to asbestos and other substances The Company has

insurance covering most of these cases and has various limits of liability depending on the

insurance policy year in question At the time liability associated with case becomes probable

and can be reasonably estimated the Company accrues for the liability by charge to earnings

For all other cases an estimate of the costs associated with the matters cannot be made due to

the inherent uncertainties in the litigation process however the Company does not believe that

these costs will have material effect on its financial position results of operations or cash flows

although no assurance to that effect can be given



The reconciliation of claims was as follows

2009 2008

Number of claims pending at January 309 299

New claims filed 26 30

Claims dismissed settled or resolved

Number of claims pending at December 31 ___

The average claim settlement amount was immaterial in both years

Other Litigation

The Company is involved in various other litigation arising in the normal course of

business The Company does not believe that its recovery or liability if any under any such

pending litigation will have material effect on the its financial position results of operations or

cash flows although no assurance to that effect can be given

Commitments

The Company has obligations under various operating leases and rental and service

agreements The expense relating to these agreements was $21.0 million $26.1 million and

$17.0 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Future

minimum annual payments under non-cancelable agreements are as follows dollars in

thousands

Year Amount

2010 $14138

2011 11079

2012 5538

2013 3665

2014 3472

After2Ol4 11406

$49.298

Credit Risks

significant portion of the Companys sales are to customers whose activities are related

to the coal copper oil sands and iron ore mining industries including some who are located in

foreign countries The Company generally extends credit to these customers and therefore

collection of receivables may be affected by the mining industry economy and the economic

conditions in the countries where the customers are located However the Company closely

monitors extension of credit and has not experienced significant credit losses Also most foreign

sales are made to large well-established companies The Company generally requires letters of

credit on sales to smaller foreign companies

Concentrations

The Company currently purchases alternating current drives and other electrical parts an

important component of its equipment from Siemens Energy Automation Inc Siemens The

loss of Siemens the Companys only critical sole source supplier could cause delay in

manufacturing and possible loss of sales which could have material adverse effect on the

Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows The Company currently

purchases motors an important component of its room and pillar equipment from one supplier



The loss of this supplier could cause delay in manufacturing due to the time required to have
motors of new supplier approved and certified by the Mine Safety and Health Administration

The loss of this supplier could also result in possible loss of sales which could have material

adverse effect on the Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows

NOTE QUARTERLY RESULTS UNAUDITED

Certain unaudited quarterly financial results were as follows

Quarter Ended at End of

March June September December
Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Sales

2009 $605744 $724436 $675767 $645822
2008 $516981 $621008 $646002 $721847

Gross profit

2009 $170185 $205262 $223843 $206309
2008 $141585 $174096 $182331 $184491

Net earnings
2009 $56901 $82280 $92067 $81455
2008 $41081 $62317 $64167 $65750

Basic net earnings per common
share

2009 $0.76 $1.11 $t24 $1.09
2008 $0.55 $0.84 $0.86 $0.88

Weighted average shares

outstanding-basic in

thousands
2009 74451 74454 74459 74463
2008 74340 74343 74340 74386

Diluted net earnings per

common share

2009 $0.76 $t08 $1.21 $1.07
2008 $0.55 $0.83 $0.85 $0.88

Weighted average shares

outstanding-diluted in

thousands
2009 74956 76012 76191 76345
2008 72205 75272 75266 75065

Dividends per common share
2009 $0.025 $0.025 $0.025 $0.025
2008 $0.025 $0.025 $0.025 $0.025



NOTE SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 19 2010 the Company completed its acquisition of the mining equipment

business Terex Mining of Terex Corporation for $1.0 billion in cash and 5809731 shares of

the Companys common stock Terex Mining is worldwide manufacturer of hydraulic excavators

off-highway haul trucks and drills which are complementary to the Companys existing product

lines As result of this acquisition the Company has significantly expanded its product portfolio

which will allow it to compete in larger portion
of the mining machinery market The Company

believes that this expanded product portfolio
will make it the premier supplier of mining equipment

The Company entered into an amendment to its existing credit agreement to provide for

an additional new secured term loan of $1.0 billion and $167.5 million of revolving credit

facilities to fund the cash portion of the purchase price for Terex Mining and provide the

Company with new revolving credit facility to support its future working capital needs

operating needs and capital expenditure plan

The initial accounting for this acquisition has not yet been completed due to the proximity

of the acquisition to the filing date of the Companys 2009 financial statements The February 19

2010 balance sheet of Terex Mining was not available as of the filing date which precluded

disclosures regarding the fair value of assets acquired liabilities assumed and goodwill Any

goodwill that results from this transaction is expected to be assigned primarily
to the Companys

surface mining segment

The Company has evaluated subsequent events after the balance sheet date through

February 26 2010 the financial statements issuance date for appropriate accounting and

disclosure



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Bucyrus International Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bucyrus International Inc

and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related

consolidated statements of earnings comprehensive income common stockholders

investment and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009

We also have audited the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The

Companys management is responsible for these financial statements for maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements and an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on

our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all

material respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the

risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We

believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the

supervision of the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons

performing similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors management

and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of

the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use

or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the

possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements

due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of

any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future



periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of Bucyrus International Inc and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion the

Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2009 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Milwaukee Wisconsin

February 26 2010



MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Bucyrus International Inc

The management of Bucyrus International Inc and its subsidiaries the Company is

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

such term is defined in Rule 13a-15f of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 The

Companys internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of published financial statements

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

The Companys management with the participation of the Companys Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer and Secretary assessed the effectiveness of the Companys

internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in Internal Control-

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission Based on this assessment the Companys management has concluded that as of

December 31 2009 the Companys internal control over financial reporting was effective based

on those criteria

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent

or detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods

are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on

the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 which is included herein

Is Timothy Sullivan

President and Chief Executive Officer

February 26 2010

Is Craig Mackus

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

February 26 2010
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Statement of Earnings Data

Sales $2651769 $2505838 $1613391 $738050 $575042

Net earnings $312703 $233315 $136134 $70344 $53559

Net earnings per share of common
stock

Basic $4.20 $3.14 $1.94 $1.12 $0.88

Diluted $4.12 $3.10 $1.93 $1.12 $0.86

Cash dividends declared per common
share $0.10 $0.10 $0.10 $00942 $0.0765

Balance Sheet Data end of year
Total assets $2704112 $2552651 $2068212 $600712 $491967

Long-term liabilities including

long-term debt $779926 $772831 $738566 $134450 $115799

The financial data presented above includes the results of operations for our

underground mining segment subsequent to May 2007 the date we acquired DBT
GmbH

Previously reported net earnings per share and cash dividends have been adjusted to

reflect the three-for-two and two-for-one split of our common stock in 2006 and 2008

respectively



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis and information contained elsewhere in this report

contain statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 These forward-looking statements may be identified by

the use of predictive future tense or forward looking terminology such as believes anticipates

expects estimates intends may will or similar terms We caution that any such forward-

looking statements are not guarantees of our future performance and involve significant risks and

uncertainties and that actual results may differ materially from those contained in the forward-

looking statements as result of various factors which are more fully described under Item IA

Risk Factors in this 2009 Form 10-K

Business

Terex Mining Acquisition

On February 19 2010 we completed the acquisition of the mining equipment business

Terex Mining from Terex Corporation for $1.0 billion in cash and 5809731 shares of our

common stock subject to certain post-closing net assets net debt and other adjustments

Terex Mining is worldwide manufacturer of hydraulic excavators off-highway haul trucks and

drills which are complementary to our existing product lines As result of this acquisition we

have significantly expanded our product portfolio which will allow us to compete in larger

portion of the mining machinery market We believe that this expanded product portfolio will

make us the premier supplier of mining equipment

Also on February 19 2010 we entered into an amendment to our existing credit

agreement to provide for an additional new secured term loan of $1.0 billion and $167.5 million

of additional revolving credit facilities to fund the cash portion of the purchase price for Terex

Mining and provide us with new revolving credit facilities to support our future working capital

needs and capital expenditure plan

Terex Mining Acquisition Rationale

We expect that our acquisition of Terex Mining will make us the premier supplier of

mining equipment We believe that this acquisition will allow us to expand our global

geographic footprint since there is little geographic overlap between our current operations and

the operations of Terex Mining ii diversify our product portfolio across broader range of

commodities iii double our potential market to approximately $30 billion and iv utilize the

services of an expanded team of approximately 10000 employees and contract employees in

nearly 100 locations around the world as of the date of the acquisition

Strategic and Financial Benefits of the Acquisition of Terex Mining

Enhanced Scale and Scope Terex Mining produces the worlds largest hydraulic

excavators rugged haul trucks advanced drilling machines and highwall mining systems

Terex Mining has 38 facilities around the world with approximately 2100 employees As

result of this acquisition we have expanded our product offering into the growing hydraulic

excavator market as well as the truck and hydraulic track drill product categories

Diversified Customer Commodities and Geographic End Markets We expect to benefit

from Terex Minings strong presence in the Asia Pacific APAC region With this acquisition

our sales in the APAC region are expected to increase We will also be able to diversify our



overall commodity exposure by reducing our percentage of total sales generated by coal-related

mining equipment and increasing our percentage of total sales generated by iron ore related

mining equipment

Aftermarket Revenue Opportunities The acquisition of Terex Mining should also

generate additional aftermarket revenue opportunities As result of this acquisition our

installed base of machinery has grown from approximately $30 billion to approximately $40

billion With broader product portfolio we expect an increase in opportunities for aftermarket

parts and services

Incremental Access to Growing Economies The acquisition of Terex Mining has

increased our access to growing economies Terex Mining is well positioned in the fast-

growing developing countries of Brazil Russia India and China In the surface mining market

Terex Mining has been successful in China and Indonesia regions where we currently have

little to no market share on standalone basis

Significant Synergy Potential The acquisition of Terex Mining should allow us to benefit

from synergies and enhance our earnings potential in 2010 We expect to be able to realize

over $100 million in annual run-rate operating synergies which we believe may be achievable

by 2012 substantial portion of these synergies are expected to result from the integration of

our global manufacturing facilities and leveraging manufacturing centers of excellence as well

as the integration of market distribution engineering and product development resources

Additional cost savings are expected to be realized through the integration of management
functions and reducing purchasing expenses similar to our successful integration of DBT GmbH
following its acquisition in May 2007

Cultural Similarities The culture across the mining industry is both universal and

unique We expect that the established culture at Terex Mining will blend well with ours and

help facilitate the integration process

Company Overview

We are leading designer and manufacturer of safe and highly productive mining

equipment for the extraction of coal copper oil sands iron ore and other minerals in major mining

centers throughout the world In addition to the manufacture of original equipment we also

provide the aftermarket replacement parts and service for this equipment We operate in two

business segments surface mining including the principal products of Terex Mining and

underground mining All of our products and services except those acquired as part of the

acquisition of Terex Mining are marketed under the Bucyrus name We have manufacturing

facilities in Australia China the Czech Republic Germany Mexico the United Kingdom and the

United States and service and sales centers in Australia Brazil Canada Chile China England

India Indonesia Mexico Peru Russia South Africa and the United States The largest markets

for our surface mining original equipment and aftermarket parts and service have historically been

in Australia Canada China India South Africa South America and the United States We
expect these markets to continue to be our largest surface mining equipment markets and we

expect growth in the Russian and Indonesian markets The largest markets for our underground

mining original equipment and aftermarket parts and service have historically been in the United

States Germany Australia and China We expect these markets except for Germany to

continue to be our largest underground mining equipment markets and we expect growth in the

Russian Eastern European and Indian markets

The market for our original equipment is closely correlated with customer expectations of

sustained strength in prices of mined commodities Growth in demand for these commodities is

function of among other things economic activity population increases and continuing



improvements in standards of living in many areas of the world Market prices for coal copper

iron ore and oil generally were weak for the first half of 2009 However the global economic

downturn that started in the latter part of 2008 began to improve during the second half of 2009

causing commodity prices to stabilize and then improve during the second half of 2009 Global

economic conditions and the conditions of global financial markets negatively impacted capital

spending by our customers in both of our segments in 2009

As of December 31 2009 we expect to see growth in commodity demand in 2010 as the

global economic environment begins to improve however we cannot accurately predict the future

demand for or price of commodities The condition of the global financial markets and availability

of credit impacts the capital spending by our customers in all regions of the world and in both of

our segments The growth in commodities and improved global economic activity may increase

capital spending by major mining companies in 2010

Our aftermarket parts and service sales tend to be less cyclical than our original

equipment sales Our original equipment is typically kept in continuous operation by our

customers for four to 40 years requiring regular maintenance and repair throughout its

productive life The market for our aftermarket parts and service is closely correlated with the

growth of the gross domestic product GDP Global economic development the

industrialization of Brazil Russia India and China and continued government economic

stimulus may contribute to improved GDP growth in 2010 compared to 2009

The size of our installed base of surface and underground mining original equipment at

December 31 2009 was approximately $20 billion increasing to approximately $30 billion with

the acquisition of Terex Mining and $10 billion respectively based on estimated replacement

value compared to approximately $18 billion and $10 billion for surface and underground

mining respectively at December 31 2008 This installed base of original equipment provides

the foundation for our future aftermarket activities Our ability to provide on-time delivery of

reliable parts and prompt service are also important drivers of our aftermarket sales

substantial portion of our sales and operating earnings is attributable to our operations

located outside the United States We generally sell our surface mining original equipment

including that sold directly to foreign customers and most of our aftermarket parts in either United

States dollars or euros Our underground mining original equipment is generally sold in either

United States dollars or euros portion of our aftermarket parts sales is denominated in the

currency of the country in which our products are sold Aftermarket services are paid for primarily

in local currency which is naturally hedged by our payment of local labor in local currency

In our surface mining segment activity for electric mining shovels and blasthole drills

increased late in the fourth quarter of 2009 primarily as result of increased demand for copper

in South America oil sands in Canada and iron ore in Brazil and Australia As of December 31

2009 we had strong activity in the South American market and continued to have high level of

activity in the Indian and Chinese markets however due to current political conditions these two

markets are expected to remain inconsistent As of December 31 2009 we expect our activity for

electric mining shovels and blasthole drills to increase in 2010 as forecasted strength in

commodity prices are expected to continue to increase our customers capital budgets Activity

for draglines in 2009 was lower than in prior years and duration of the quoting process and timing

of decisions continues to be long

Conditions for our surface mining segment aftermarket parts and service improved in 2009

and were strong in all markets except for the United States coal market as compared to 2008

However we have been able to maintain consistent quoting levels in all markets Activity in the

Chilean market had the most improvement in 2009 as result of the increased price of copper

decrease in yields and the increasing age of our customers fleets As of December 31 2009 we



expect the activity for our surface mining aftermarket parts and services to continue to increase in

2010 including in the United States market

In our underground mining segment activity for Iongwall and room and pillar equipment

continues to be impacted by decreased coal demand particularly in the United States As of

December 31 2009 we expect some improvement in all markets particularly China

Demand for coal and coal prices are impacting aftermarket parts and service levels in our

underground mining segment particularly
in the eastern region of the United States As of

December 31 2009 we expect activity for our underground mining aftermarket parts and services

to increase in the United States European and Russian markets

Installed Base

Our total original equipment installed base of approximately $30 billion increasing to

approximately $40 billion with the acquisition
of Terex Mining based on estimated replacement

value at December 31 2009 which includes approximately $20 billion of surface mining original

equipment and approximately $10 billion of underground mining original equipment provides the

foundation for our future aftermarket sales Over the life of certain machines customer purchases

of aftermarket parts can exceed the original purchase price of the machine Additionally we

generally realize higher gross margins on sales of our aftermarket parts than on sales of our

original equipment Moreover because our machines tend to operate continuously in all market

conditions with expected lives ranging from approximately four to 40 years and have predictable

parts and maintenance needs our aftermarket business has historically been more stable and

predictable than the market for our original equipment which is closely correlated with

expectations of sustained strength in commodity markets

Backlog and New Orders

Our backlog level which represents unfilled orders for our products and services allows

us to more accurately forecast our upcoming sales and plan our production accordingly Our

backlog also provides us with relatively predictable level of expected 2010 sales and cash

flows Due to the high cost of some of our original equipment our backlog is subject to volatility

particularly over relatively short periods portion of our backlog is related to multi-year

contracts that will generate revenue in future years Our backlog at December 31 2009 and

December 31 2008 as well as the portion of our backlog which was expected to be recognized

within 12 months of these dates was as follows

December 31
2009 2008 Change

Dollars in thousands

Surface Mining

Total $1062977 $1367242 22.3%

Next 12 months $641599 $906884 29.3%

Underground Mining

Total $816543 $1135212 28.1%

Next 12 months $616784 $806074 23.5%

Total

Total $1 879520 $2502454 24.9%

Next 12 months $1258383 $1712958 26.5%

We have transferred certain original equipment orders previously scheduled to ship in 2009

to our 2010 shipping schedule due to the delay of capital equipment expenditures by certain of our

large multinational customers Through December 31 2009 we transferred approximately $200



million of planned 2009 original equipment shipments to 2010 primarily at the request of certain of

our customers These transfers of orders caused an increase in our working capital during 2009

Cancellations of orders in our December 31 2008 backlog were not significant in 2009

Terex Minings backlog at December 31 2009 was $194.1 million

New orders were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Change

Dollars in thousands

Surface Mining

Original equipment $330402 $948334 65.2%
Aftermarket parts and service 650329 896646 27.5%

980731 1844980 46.8%

Underground Mining

Original equipment 525150 1148357 54.3%
Aftermarket parts and service 522954 573701 8.8%

1048104 1722058 39.1%

Total

Original equipment 855552 2096691 59.2%
Aftermarket parts and service 1173283 1470347 20.2%

$2.028.835 $3.567.038 43.1%



The decrease in surface mining original equipment new orders for the year ended

December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily due to

decline in new orders for electric mining shovels and draglines One new dragline order was

received in 2008 compared to none in 2009 Capital spending by our customers in 2009 was

negatively impacted by the effect of global economic conditions on commodities and credit

markets

Surface mining aftermarket parts and service new orders for the year ended December 31

2009 declined in most markets compared to the year ended December 31 2008 as result of

current global economic conditions with the largest declines being in the United States and

Chilean markets however new orders increased in certain smaller markets Included in surface

mining aftermarket parts and service new orders for 2009 was $32.7 million related to multi-year

contracts that will generate revenue in future years compared to $281.5 million for 2008 Multi-

year contracts vary in size and are not typically received on regular basis

Total surface mining new orders for the year ended December 31 2009 were negatively

impacted by approximately $11 million due to the effect of the stronger U.S dollar on orders

denominated in foreign currencies compared to 2008

The decrease in underground mining original equipment new orders for the year ended

December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily due to the

sale of five longwall systems to customer in the Czech Republic in the first quarter of 2008 and

the conversion of several existing longwall systems to Bucyrus wide-face conveyor systems in the

United States market in 2008 that were not repeated in 2009 as well as reduced room and pillar

new orders All product lines were negatively impacted in 2009 as result of global economic

conditions

The decrease in underground mining aftermarket parts and service new orders for the year

ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily in the

United States Australian and South African markets as result of global economic conditions

Total underground mining new orders for the year ended December 31 2009 were

negatively impacted by approximately $45 million due to the effect of the stronger U.S dollar on

orders denominated in foreign currencies compared to 2008



Results of Operations

2009 Compared to 2008

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008

%of %of
Amount Sales Amount Sales

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Sales $2651769 $2505838
Gross profit $805599 30.4% $682503 27.2%

Selling general

and administrative

expenses $269539 10.2% $243932 9.7%

Operating earnings $475253 17.9% $382631 15.3%

Netearnings $312703 11.8% $233315 9.3%

Fully diluted net earnings per

share $4.12 N/A $3.10 N/A

Sales

Sales consisted of the following

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Chance

Dollars in thousands
Surface Mining

Original equipment $534463 $622904 14.2%
Aftermarket parts and service 750533 659615 13.8%

1284996 1282519 0.2%

Underground Mining

Original equipment 821019 737554 11.3%

Aftermarket parts and service 545754 485765 12.3%

1366773 1223319 11.7%

Total

Original equipment 1355482 1360458 0.4%
Aftermarket parts and service 1296287 1.145380 13.2%

$2651.769 $2.505.838 5.8%

The decrease in surface mining original equipment sales for the year ended December 31
2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily due to decreased electric

mining shovels sales which was partially offset by increased revenue from the manufacture and

assembly of walking draglines for customers in Australia and Canada



The increase in surface mining aftermarket parts and service sales for the year ended

December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was in most markets with

the largest increase being in the Chilean market The increase in the Chilean market was primarily

due to improved copper prices and increased machine utilization by some of our customers in this

region The increase in other markets was generally due to increased parts sales for original

equipment sold in prior periods Sales in the United States market for 2009 approximated 2008

levels Total surface mining sales were negatively impacted by approximately $21 million for the

year ended December 31 2009 due to the effect of the U.S dollar on sales denominated in

foreign currencies compared to 2008

The increase in underground mining original equipment for the year ended December 31

2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily due to increased longwall

sales to customers in the United States and the Czech Republic and increased sales of room and

pillar equipment to customers in China

The increase in underground mining aftermarket parts and service sales for the year ended

December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily in the United

States and Eastern European markets Many of the longwall replacement projects in the United

States were ordered in 2008 as result of mine conditions making it more economical to extend

the lives of existing longwall systems instead of buying new systems Total underground mining

sales were negatively impacted by approximately $26 million for the year ended December 31

2009 due to the effect of the U.S dollar on sales denominated in foreign currencies compared to

2008

Gross Profit

Gross profit and gross margin were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Change

Dollars in thousands

Gross profit $805599 $682503 18.0%

Gross margin 30.4% 27.2% N/A

Gross profit was affected by purchase accounting adjustments primarily to inventory and

fixed assets as result of the acquisition of DBT in 2007 as follows

Year Ended

December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Increase decrease due to

purchase accounting adjustments $2360 $10777

Gross margin increase reduction 0.1% 0.4%

The DBT purchase accounting adjustment related to inventory was fully amortized as of

December 31 2008

The increase in gross profit for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year

ended December 31 2008 was primarily due to the mix of original equipment sales and higher

aftermarket sales in our surface mining segment and increased sales in our underground mining

segment Excluding the effect of the DBT purchase accounting adjustments gross margin for the



year ended December 31 2009 was 30.3% of sales compared to 27.6% of sales for the year

ended December 31 2008 The increase in gross margin for 2009 compared to 2008 was

primarily due to improved efficiencies in our manufacturing operations higher aftermarket sales

which generally have higher gross margins than our original equipment sales and raw material

cost reductions Subcontract work was moved back into certain of our manufacturing facilities

which also favorably impacted gross margin Original equipment sales which generally have

lower gross margins than aftermarket sales were 42% of our total surface mining sales for 2009

compared with 49% for 2008 and were 60% of our total underground mining sales for 2009 and

2008

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Change

Dollars in thousands

Selling general and administrative expenses $269539 $243932 10.5%

Percent of sales 10.2% 9.7% N/A

Selling general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31 2009

included $1 1.9 million of stock-based compensation expense $5.7 million of severance expense

and $4.6 million of acquisition expense compared to $7.1 million of stock-based compensation

expense $0.5 million of severance income and $0.3 million of acquisition expense for the year

ended December 31 2008 Selling general and administrative expenses for 2009 also included

$3.3 million loss on the sale of certain assets in Poland The acquisition expense for 2009

primarily related to the acquisition of Terex Mining significant portion of the costs related to the

acquisition of Terex Mining will be expensed in 2010

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Change

Dollars in thousands

Research and development expenses $41908 $36550 14.7%

Percent of sales 1.6% 1.5% N/A

The aggregate dollar increase was primarily due to increased spending for enhancements

to all of our product lines We expect research and development expenses to approximate 1.7%

to 1.8% of sales in 2010 excluding the acquisition of Terex Mining

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets acquired in the DBT acquisition was $17.2 million for the

year ended December 31 2009 compared to $17.9 million for the year ended December 31
2008 Amortization of intangible assets acquired in the DBT acquisition is expected to be

approximately $4.2 million per quarter through April 2019



Operating Earnings

Operating earnings were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Change

Dollars in thousands

Surface mining $292754 $252713 15.8%

Underground mining 221616 158778 39.6%

Total operations 514370 411491 25.0%

Corporate 39117 28860 35.5%

Consolidated total $475.253 $382.631 24.2%

The increase in operating earnings was primarily due to increased gross profit due to the

mix of original equipment sales and higher aftermarket sales in our surface mining segment and

increased sales in our underground mining segment partially offset by increased selling general

and administrative expenses The increase in operating earnings for our underground mining

segment were reduced by purchase accounting adjustments related to the acquisition of DBT of

$3.1 million and $27.9 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $27.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to

$34.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The decrease in interest expense in 2009

was primarily due to lower interest rates on our term loan debt

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31 2009 was $134.6 million or 30.1% of

pre-tax earnings compared to $117.7 million or 33.5% of pre-tax earnings for the year ended

December 31 2008 The rate decrease in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily due to

favorable earnings mix and the reversal of $4.5 million of valuation allowance reserves in

connection with the reorganization of certain international operations We anticipate an effective

tax rate of approximately 32% in 2010 including the acquisition of Terex Mining

Other Expense

Other expense for the year ended December 31 2009 was $6.1 million compared to $3.1

million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase in 2009 was primarily due to $2.7

million of losses that were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into

earnings due to the discontinuance of cash flow hedges The cash flow hedges were concurrently

settled and extended because an original forecasted event did not occur within the original

specified time period as result of customer requested delays of two orders in our underground

mining segment We anticipate that the losses will be recovered in 2010 when the hedges

mature



Net Earnings

Net earnings were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 Chanqe

Dollars in thousands

except per share amounts

Net earnings $312703 $233315 34.0%

Fully diluted net earnings per share $4.12 $3.10 32.9%

Net earnings were reduced increased by amortization of purchase accounting

adjustments related to the acquisition of DBT as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008

Dollars in thousands

Inventory fair value adjustment

charged to cost of product sold $12088

Amortization of intangible assets 17216 17850

Depreciation of fixed assets 3235 1992

Operating earnings
13981 27946

Income tax benefit 5127 9158

Total $8854 $18.788

2008 Compared to 2007

Our 2007 results of operations for our underground mining segment were for the period of

May 2007 the date we acquired DBT through December 31 2007 As result of this

shortened reporting period for 2007 comparisons of our underground mining segment results for

2007 may not be particularly meaningful compared to 2008

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007

%of %of
Amount Sales Amount Sales

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Sales $2505838 $1613391

Gross profit $682503 27.2% $408325 25.3%

Selling general and

administrative expenses $243932 9.7% $185639 11.5%

Operating earnings $382631 15.3% $173147 10.7%

Net earnings $233315 9.3% $136134 8.4%

Fully diluted net earnings per

share $3.10 N/A $1.93 N/A



Sales

Sales consisted of the following

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 Change

Dollars in thousands

Surface Mining

Original equipment $622904 $398662 56.2%

Aftermarket parts and

service 659.615 528439 24.8%

1282519 927101 38.3%

Underground Mining

Original equipment 737554 448252 64.5%

Aftermarket parts and

service 485765 238038 104.1%

1223319 686290 78.3%

Total

Original equipment 1360458 846914 60.6%

Aftermarket parts and

service 1145380 766477 49.4%

$2.505.838 $1.613.391 55.3%

The increase in surface mining sales for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to

the year ended December 31 2007 was the result of the strength of new orders in 2008 for our

products and services throughout the world and the positive impact of the substantially completed

capacity improvements at our principal surface mining manufacturing facility in South Milwaukee

Wisconsin The high demand for our surface mining products and services was driven by high

global commodity prices during the first three quarters of 2008 The increase in surface mining

original equipment sales was primarily in electric mining shovels and draglines The increase in

surface mining aftermarket parts and service sales was in nearly all global markets The capacity

expansion of our South Milwaukee Wisconsin facilities was substantially completed in 2008

which increased our annual shovel production capacity to at least 24 electric mining shovels and

almost doubled annual manufactured parts capacity from 2006 levels

The increase in underground mining sales for 2008 was primarily due to the inclusion of

full year of our underground mining segments results The additional increase in both original

equipment and aftermarket parts and service reflected the strong global demand for coal and

strong coal prices throughout most of 2008 The increase in underground mining original

equipment sales was in both the longwall and room and pillar product lines The increase in

underground mining aftermarket sales was primarily due to the strong global demand for high

productivity longwall mining parts in connection with start-ups of new longwalls and major

expansions of existing longwalls



Gross Profit

Gross profit and gross margin were as follows

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Change

Dollars in thousands

Gross profit $682503 $408325 67.2%

Gross margin 27.2% 25.3% N/A

Gross profit was reduced by purchase accounting adjustments primarily to inventory as

result of the acquisition of DBT in 2007 as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Decrease due to

purchase accounting adjustments $10777 $22250

Gross margin reduction 0.4% 1.4%

The purchase accounting adjustment related to inventory was fully amortized as of

December 31 2008

The increase in gross profit for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year

ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to the inclusion of full year of our underground

mining segments results and increased surface mining sales The availability of raw materials

and raw material cost increases have not had significant effect on gross margin or operating

performance Original equipment sales which generally have lower gross margins than

aftermarket sales were 49% of our total surface mining sales for 2008 compared with 43% for

2007 and were 60% of our total underground mining sales for 2008 compared with 65% for 2007

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 Change

Dollars in thousands

Selling general and administrative expenses $243932 $185639 31.4%

Percent of sales 9.7% 11.5% N/A

The aggregate dollar increase for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year

ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to the acquisition of DBT in May 2007 The upgrade

of the SAP computer software in our underground mining segment was completed in 2008 The

cost of this upgrade was $2.6 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007 respectively Expenses for 2007 include certain one-time costs related to the integration of

DBT which increased selling general and administrative expenses as percent of sales



Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 Change

Dollars in thousands

Research and development expenses $36550 $20358 79.5%

Percent of sales 1.5% 1.3% N/A

The aggregate dollar increase for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year

ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to the acquisition of DBT in May 2007 as well as

electric mining shovel and longwall product developments and increased headcount to support

higher electric mining shovel and dragline order levels

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets acquired in the DBT acquisition was $17.9 million for the

year ended December 31 2008 compared to $12.0 million for the year ended December 31
2007

Operating Earnings

Operating earnings were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 Change

Dollars in thousands

Surface mining $252713 $165238 52.9%

Underground mining 158778 18269 769.1%

Total operations 411491 183507 124.2%

Corporate 28860 10360 178.6%

Consolidated total $382.63 $1 73.147 121 .0%

The increase in operating earnings for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the

year ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to the acquisition of DBT in 2007 and

increased gross profit resulting from increased surface mining sales volume Operating earnings

for our underground mining segment were reduced by purchase accounting adjustments related

to the acquisition of DBT of $27.9 million and $49.1 million for 2008 and 2007 respectively



Interest Expense

Interest expense was $34.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared with

$24.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase in 2008 was due to increased

debt levels related to the financing of the acquisition of DBT being outstanding only portion of

2007

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31 2008 was $117.7 million or 33.5% of

pre-tax earnings compared with $10.4 million or 7.1% of pre-tax earnings for the year ended

December 31 2007 The effective rate for 2007 was impacted by significant one-time benefits

related to our underground mining segment These one-time benefits included $12.2 million

deferred tax benefit resulting from reduction in the German statutory tax rate from 39% to 32%

and $14.0 million foreign tax credit benefit resulting from repatriation of German earnings

Earnings in lower-taxed jurisdictions resulted in $4.7 million of benefits and various other items

resulted in an additional $4.7 million of benefits

Net Earnings

Net earnings were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 Chanie

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Net earnings $233315 $136134 71.4%

Fully diluted net earnings per share $3.10 $1.93 60.6%

Net earnings were reduced increased by amortization of purchase accounting adjustments

related to the acquisition of DBT as follows

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Inventory fair value adjustment

charged to cost of product sold $12088 $23350

Amortization of intangible assets 17850 27456

Depreciation of fixed assets 1992 1746

Operating earnings 27946 49060

Income tax benefit 9158 28.432

Total $18.788 $20.628

12007 includes $12.2 million tax benefit resulting from reduction in the

German statutory tax rate

Giving effect to our acquisition of DBT as if it would have occurred on January 2007

instead of on May 2007 pro forma net earnings and net earnings per share for 2007 would

have been $146.9 million and $1.96 respectively Pro forma net earnings excluded the

adjustment of inventory to estimated fair value as this adjustment was directly attributed to the



DBT transaction and did not have continuing impact The actual after tax charge to net earnings

for this adjustment was $8.0 million and $9.5 million for 2008 and 2007 respectively

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

The following table summarizes the approximate effect of changes in foreign currency

exchange rates on our sales gross profit and operating earnings in each case compared to the

prior year

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Decrease increase in sales $46795 $5017 $17243

Decrease increase in gross profit $16462 $2845 $2805

Decrease increase in operating earnings $8713 $1410 $1784

The volatility of the euro Australian dollar and Chilean peso caused most of the change in

2009

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA were as follows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

EBITDA $532995 $438881 $227766

Percent increase from prior year 21 .4% 92.7% 96.3%

EBITDAas percent of sales 20.1% 17.5% 14.1%

Adjusted EBITDA $548588 $458184 $257819

Percent increase from prior year 19.7% 77.7% 114.1%

Adjusted EBITDA as percent of sales 20.7% 18.3% 16.0%

EBITDA is defined as net earnings before interest income interest expense income tax

expense depreciation and amortization EBITDA includes the impact of non-cash stock

compensation expense severance expenses loss on disposals of fixed assets and the inventory

fair value purchase accounting adjustment charged to cost of products sold as set forth below

EBITDA is measurement not recognized in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America GAAP and should not be viewed as an alternative to

GAAP measures of performance EBITDA is presented because we use EBITDA to measure

our liquidity and financial performance and iiwe believe EBITDA is frequently used by securities

analysts investors and other interested parties in evaluating the performance and enterprise

value of companies in general and in evaluating the liquidity of companies with significant debt

service obligations and their ability to service their indebtedness

Adjusted EBITDA is material term in our current credit agreement and was also material

term in our previous credit agreement which we believe is material agreement and is used in

the calculation of our leverage ratio covenant Also our management uses Adjusted EBITDA

when preparing our annual operating budget and financial projections The following table

reconciles EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA



Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

EBITDA $532995 $438881 $227766

Non-cash stock compensation expense 11889 7056 6171

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3704 159 532

Inventory fair value adjustments

charged to cost of products sold 12088 23350

Adjusted EBITDA $548.588 $458184 $257.819

The following table reconciles Net Earnings as reported in our Consolidated Statements of

Earnings to EBITDA and reconciles EBITDA to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities as

reported in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Dollars in thousands

Net earnings $312703 $233315 $136134

Interest income 5117 6206 3523
Interest expense 27017 34768 27718

Incometaxexpense 134565 117683 10424

Depreciation 41544 36860 25438

Amortization 22283 22461 31575

EBITDA 532995 438881 227766

Changes in assets and liabilities 253574 144996 106261
Non-cash stock compensation expense 11889 7056 6171
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3704 159 532

Interest income 5117 6206 3523

Interest expense 27017 34768 27718
Income tax expense 134565 117683 10424

Net cash provided by operating activities $138549 $154.855 $93.589

Net cash used in investing activities $74.463 $128237 $775464

Net cash used in provided by financing activities $80.318 $30.219 $727.603

Includes amortization of intangible assets and debt issuance costs

Reflects gains losses on the disposal of fixed assets in the ordinary course and $3.3 million loss in 2009 related

to the sale of certain assets in Poland

Includes severance and early retirement expense income for personnel changes in the ordinary course of $5650

$450 and $3220 respectively

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Description of Pre-Acquisition Credit Facilities

Prior to our acquisition of Terex Mining our credit facilities included secured revolving

credit facility of $357.5 million an unsecured German revolving credit facility of 65.0 million each

of which were scheduled to mature on May 2012 and term loan facility consisting of $400.0

million plus 75.0 million which was scheduled to mature on May 2014 The entire secured



revolving credit facility was eligible to be used for letters of credit At December 31 2009 we had

no borrowings under our secured or unsecured revolving credit facilities

Borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility in place prior to the acquisition of

Terex Mining bore interest payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR plus between

1.25% and 1.75% based on our total leverage ratio for United States dollar denominated LIBOR

loans ii base rate determined by reference to the greater of the United States prime lending

rate and the federal funds rate plus between 0.25% and 0.75% based on our total leverage ratio

for United States dollar denominated base rate loans and iii EURIBOR plus between 1.25% and

1.75% based on our total leverage ratio for euro denominated loans The interest rates under

our secured revolving credit facility were subject to change based on the total leverage ratio The

unsecured German revolving credit facility bore interest payable no less frequently than quarterly

at EURIBOR plus between 1.25% and 1.75% based on our total leverage ratio Under each

revolving credit facility we had agreed to pay commitment fee based on the unused portion of

such facilities payable quarterly at rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.50% depending on the total

leverage ratio and when applicable customary letter of credit fees Borrowings under our term

loan facility bore interest payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR plus 1.50% for

United States dollar denominated LIBOR loans ii the base rate plus 0.50% for United States

dollar denominated base rate loans and iii EURIBOR plus 1.75% for euro denominated loans

At December 31 2009 the amount potentially available for borrowings under our secured

revolving credit facility was $282.5 million after taking into account $75.0 million of issued letters

of credit The amount potentially available for borrowings under our unsecured German credit

facility at December 31 2009 was $54.1 million 37.8 million after taking into account $39.0

million 27.2 million of issued letters of credit At December 31 2009 we had borrowings under

our term loan facility of $496.6 million $391.0 million plus 73.3 million To manage portion of

our exposure to changes in LIBOR-based interest rates we have entered into interest rate swap

agreements that effectively fix the interest payments on $475.8 million $375.0 million plus 70.0

million of our outstanding borrowings under our term loan facility at weighted average interest

rate of 3.4% plus the applicable spread The remaining $20.8 million $16.0 million plus 3.3

million of outstanding term loan borrowings at December 31 2009 were at weighted average

interest rate of 1.9% plus the applicable spread

Prior to our acquisition of Terex Mining our credit facilities contained operating and financial

covenants that among other things could limit our ability to obtain additional sources of capital

Our financial covenants required that we maintained total leverage ratio calculated on trailing

four-quarter basis of not more than 3.5 to 1.0 for each measurement period The total leverage

ratio was calculated as the ratio of consolidated indebtedness which is net of cash to

consolidated operating profit which excluded among other things certain non-cash charges as

discussed more fully in the credit facilities At December 31 2009 our total leverage ratio was

0.74 to 1.0 and we were in compliance with all covenants and other requirements in our then

existing credit facilities

Description of Current Credit Facility

Our new credit facilities include secured revolving credit facility of $525.0 million $35.0

million has maturity date of May 2012 and $490.0 million has maturity date of May 2014

and an unsecured German revolving credit facility of 65.0 million which matures on May 2014

Our new credit facilities also include term loan facility consisting of $1280.0 million $390.0

million matures on May 2014 and $890.0 million matures on February 19 2016 AUD 124.0

million with maturity date of February 19 2016 and 73.1 million with maturity date of May

2014 The entire new secured revolving credit facility is eligible to be used for letters of credit



We had approximately $372.5 million $328.8 million plus 43.7 million available under our

revolving credit facilities at February 19 2010

Borrowings under our new secured revolving credit facility that mature on May 2012 bear

interest payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR plus between 1.25% and 1.75%

based on our total leverage ratio for United States dollar denominated LIBOR loans and ii

base rate determined by reference to the greater of the United States prime lending rate

the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and LIBOR for one-month interest period plus 1.00% the

base Rate in each case under clause ii plus between 0.25% and 0.75% based on our total

leverage ratio Borrowings under our new secured revolving credit facility that mature on May

2014 bear interest payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR or EURIBOR plus

between 3.00% and 3.50% based on our total leverage ratio and ii the Base Rate plus between

2.00% and 2.5% based on our total leverage ratio The unsecured German revolving credit

facility bears interest payable no less frequently than quarterly at EURIBOR plus between 3.00%

and 3.50% based on our total leverage ratio

Under each new revolving credit facility we pay commitment fee based on the unused

portion of such facilities payable quarterly at rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.50% depending on

the total leverage ratio for revolving credit facilities that mature on May 2012 and 0.50% for

revolving credit facilities that mature on May 2014 and when applicable customary letter of

credit fees

Borrowings under our new term loan facility that mature on May 2014 bear interest

payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR plus 3.00% for United States dollar

denominated LIBOR loans ii the base rate plus 2.00% for United States dollar denominated

base rate loans and iii EURIBOR plus 3.00% for euro denominated loans

Borrowings under our new term loan facility that mature on February 19 2016 bear interest

payable no less frequently than quarterly at LIBOR subject to 1.50% floor plus between

2.75% and 3.00% based on the our total leverage ratio for United States dollar denominated

base rate loans ii the Base Rate plus between 1.75% and 2.00% based on our total leverage

ratio for United States dollar denominated base rate loans and iii an offered rate of interest

based on deposits of Australian dollars plus the difference between three-month LIBOR and

1.50% if greater and between 2.75% and 3.00% based on our total leverage ratio for

Australian dollar denominated base rate loans

Our new credit facilities contain operating and financial covenants that among other things

could limit our ability to obtain additional sources of capital Our financial covenants require that

we maintain on trailing four-quarter basis as of the end of each fiscal quarter total leverage

ratio of not more than 3.50 to 1.00 and ii consolidated interest coverage ratio of at least 3.0 to

1.0 The total leverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of consolidated indebtedness which is net

of cash to consolidated operating profit which excludes among other things certain non-cash

charges as discussed more fully in the credit facilities The total interest coverage ratio is

calculated as the ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA to consolidated cash interest expense

Our new credit agreement requires us to prepay outstanding loans with 100% of the net

proceeds of the incurrence of certain debt and certain asset sales and 50% subject to reductions

based on our total leverage ratio of our annual excess cash flow as defined in our credit

agreement

Cash Requirements

Our cash balance decreased to $101.1 million at December 31 2009 from $102.4 million at

December 31 2008 The decrease was primarily the result of funding working capital



requirements During 2009 we reduced our secured revolving credit facility from $55.2 million to

zero and contributed $27.8 million to our United States pension plans

Our customers generally are contractually obligated to make progress payments under

purchase contracts for machine orders and certain large parts orders As result we do not

anticipate significant outside financing requirements to fund production of our original equipment

and do not believe that original equipment sales will have material adverse effect on our

liquidity although the issuance of letters of credit reduces the amount available for borrowings

under our revolving credit facilities If additional borrowings are necessary during 2010 we believe

we have sufficient capacity under our existing revolving credit facilities

Inventory increased to $627.3 million at December 31 2009 from $616.7 million at

December 31 2008 The increase was primarily in our surface mining segment due to ordering

raw materials for original equipment orders in advance of the current production schedule

including for orders that have been transferred to 2010 Most of this increase was offset by

reduction of longwall inventory as result of new orders in our underground mining segment

Capital expenditures for 2009 were $54.6 million compared to $118.8 million for 2008

Included in capital expenditures for 2009 and 2008 were $13.4 million and $45.5 million

respectively related to our surface mining expansion program and the additional renovations of

our South Milwaukee Wisconsin facilities We expect our capital expenditures in 2010 to be

between $60 million and $70 million which does not include the acquisition of Terex Mining or any

capital expenditures for the acquired business We are closely monitoring our capital spending in

relation to current economic conditions and business levels We believe cash flows from operating

activities and funds available under our revolving credit facilities will be sufficient to fund our

expected capital expenditures during 2010

At December 31 2009 there were $188.5 million of standby letters of credit outstanding

under all of our bank facilities

At December 31 2009 our long-term liabilities consisted primarily of warranty accruals

pension accruals and deferred income taxes In 2010 we expect to contribute approximately $18

million to our pension plans Upon completion of an analysis of the funded status of our United

States pension plans additional contributions may be made in 2010 At December 31 2009 our

unfunded pension liability was $132.8 million compared to $153.9 million at December 31 2008

Our unfunded pension liability at December 31 2009 and 2008 consisted of $13.8 million and

$48.8 million respectively for our United States plans and $119.0 million and $105.1 million

respectively for our non-United States plans which are not traditionally funded The decreased

liability for our United States plans reflects the increased market value of the securities held by the

plans and contributions we made

Payments of warranty claims are not subject to definitive estimate by year We do not

expect to pay any material warranty claims in 2010

In addition to the obligations noted above we currently anticipate estimated cash funding

requirements for interest and dividends during 2010 of approximately $71 million and $8 million

respectively which includes the impact of our acquisition of Terex Mining We currently anticipate

estimated cash funding requirements for income taxes during 2010 of approximately $130 million

which excludes the impact of our acquisition of Terex Mining

During 2010 we anticipate continued positive cash flows from operations and expect our

cash balances to increase throughout the year We believe that cash flows from operations and

our existing revolving credit facilities which includes our new credit facilities will be sufficient to

fund our cash requirements in 2010 We also believe that cash flows from operations will be



sufficient to repay any borrowings under our revolving credit facilities which includes our new

credit facilities as necessary and all scheduled term loan payments

Receivables

We recognize revenues on most original equipment orders using the percentage-of-

completion method Accordingly accounts receivable are generated when revenue is recognized

which can be before the funds are collected or in some cases before our customer is billed At

December 31 2009 we had $741.8 million of accounts receivable compared to $636.5 million at

December 31 2008 Receivables at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 included

$384.5 million and $209.7 million respectively of revenues from long-term contracts recognized

using percentage of completion accounting that were not billable at these dates Billed

receivables decreased in 2009 due to collection of original equipment billings from the fourth

quarter of 2008

Included in our December 31 2009 accounts receivable balance was approximately $83

million related to order delays We expect to collect substantially all of the $83 million during 2010

Customer requested delays of sold orders poor conditions in global financial markets or global or

regional recessionary economic conditions could cause us difficulty in collecting outstanding

accounts receivable

Liabilities to Customers on Uncompleted Contracts and Warranties

Customers generally make down payments at the time of the order for new machine as

well as progress payments throughout the manufacturing process These payments are recorded

as Liabilities to Customers on Uncompleted Contracts and Warranties in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Current Dividend Policy

We pay cash dividend on our common stock in the amount of $.025 per share per quarter

subject to future authorization by our Board of Directors Total cash dividend payments in 2009

were $7.4 million



Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations at December 31 2009 were as follows

2011- 2013-

Total 2010 2012 2014 Thereafter

Dollars in thousands

Debt $507232 $7566 $12550 $482308 $4808

Purchase obligations 9358 7263 2036 59

Operating leases and rental and

service agreements 49298 14138 16617 7137 11406

Interest on long-term debt 89694 21829 40698 27167

Pension obligations 18300 18300

Total $673.882 $69.096 $71.901 $516.671 $16214

Includes payment obligations under capital leases

Obligations related to purchase orders entered into in the ordinary course of business are excluded from the above

table Any amounts for which we are liable for goods or services received under purchase orders are reflected in

the Consolidated Balance Sheets as accounts payable

Represents interest on our term loan

Obligations for our pension plans cannot be reasonably estimated beyond 2010 In addition upon completion of an

analysis of the funded status of our United States pension plans additional contributions may be made in 2010 For

further information on our pension plans see Note in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Due to the uncertainty in predicting the timing of tax payments if any related to our unrecognized tax benefits

$18.8 million has been excluded from this table

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions

about future events that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and

accompanying footnotes Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute

certainty Therefore the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment Actual

results could differ from those estimates and such differences may be material to the financial

statements The process of determining significant estimates is fact specific and takes into

account factors such as historical experience current and expected economic conditions product

mix and in some cases actuarial techniques We evaluate these significant factors as facts and

circumstances dictate Historically actual results have not differed significantly from those

determined using estimates

The following are the accounting policies that most frequently require us to make estimates

and judgments and are critical to understanding our financial position results of operations and

cash flows

Revenue Recognition Revenue from long-term sales contracts such as for the

manufacture of our original equipment is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method

due to the length of time to fully manufacture and assemble our original equipment We measure

revenue recognized based on the ratio of estimated costs incurred to date in relation to total costs

to be incurred The percentage-of-completion method of accounting for these contracts most

accurately reflects the status of these uncompleted contracts in our financial statements and most

accurately measures the matching of revenues with expenses Revenue from all other types of

sales primarily sales of aftermarket parts net of estimated returns and allowances is recognized



when all of the following circumstances are satisfied persuasive evidence of an arrangement

exists the price is fixed or determinable collectibility is reasonably assured and delivery has

occurred or services have been rendered Criteria for revenue recognition is generally met at the

time products are shipped as the terms are FOB shipping point

The complexity of the cost estimation process and all issues related to assumptions risks

and uncertainties inherent with the use of estimated costs in the percentage of completion method

of accounting affect the amounts reported in our financial statements number of internal and

external factors affect our cost of sales estimates including engineering design changes

estimated future material prices and customer specification changes If we had used different

assumptions in the application of this and other accounting policies it is likely that materially

different amounts would be reported in our financial statements Bid and proposal costs are

expensed as incurred 1% change in the gross margin on our original equipment in progress at

December 31 2009 would have the effect of changing our gross profit by approximately $15

million

Warranty Sales of our products generally carry typical manufacturers warranties the

majority of which cover products for one year based on terms that are generally accepted in the

marketplaces that we serve We record provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs

as revenue is recognized based on historical warranty loss experience and periodically adjust

these provisions to reflect actual experience Estimates used to determine the product warranty

accruals are significantly impacted by the historical percentage of warranty claims costs to net

sales During 2009 this percentage varied by approximately 0.04 percentage points compared to

the average warranty costs to sales percentage for 2008 and 2007 Holding other assumptions

constant if this estimated percentage were to increase or decrease 0.04 percentage points our

warranty expense for 2009 would have increased or decreased by approximately $1 million

Pension Benefits We have several defined benefit pension plans that are separately

funded Several statistical and judgmental factors which attempt to anticipate future events are

used in calculating the expense and liability related to these plans These factors include

assumptions about the discount rate expected return on plan assets and the rate of future

compensation increases as we determine within certain guidelines In addition our actuarial

consultants also use subjective factors such as withdrawal and mortality rates to estimate these

factors The actuarial assumptions we use may differ materially from actual results due to

changing market and economic conditions higher or lower withdrawal rates longer or shorter life

spans of participants and changes in actual costs of health care These differences may result in

significant impact to the amount of pension expenses recorded by us

In determining net periodic cost for pension benefits for 2009 we used discount rate of

6.2% and 6.2% for our United States plans and non-United States plans respectively and an

expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.5% for our United States plans The discount

rate for our United States plans in 2009 was decreased from 6.25% in 2008 and the expected

long-term rate of return on plan assets was the same as in 2008

In selecting an assumed discount rate we reviewed various corporate bond yields The

8.5% expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the average rate of earnings

expected on the classes of funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits of these

plans This includes considering the trusts targeted asset allocation for the year and the expected

returns likely to be earned over the next 20 years The assumptions used for the return of each

asset class are conservative when compared to long-term historical returns



The effect that 1% increase or decrease in the discount rate and expected rate of return

on plan assets would have on our pension obligations and costs was as follows

January 2009 Benefit

2009 Benefit Cost Obligation

Income Exrense Increase Decrease

One One One

Percentage- Percentage- One Percentage-

Point Point Percentage- Point

Increase Decrease Point Increase Decrease

Dollars in thousands

United States Plans

Pension benefits

Assumed discount rate $886 $1057 $8831 $10389

Expected long-term rate of

return on plan assets $716 $716 N/A N/A

Non-United States Plans

Pension benefits

Assumed discount rate $839 $462 $10737 $13033

Expected long-term rate of

return on plan assets N/A N/A N/A N/A

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes At December 31 2009 we had $18.8

million of unrecognized tax benefits $3.9 million of which would impact our effective tax rate if

recognized We estimate that the gross amount of unrecognized income tax benefits will decrease

by approximately $3.4 million in the next 12 months due to the close of an open tax year

however we cannot estimate the change in the reserve due to tax positions expected to be taken

during 2010

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets

Assets subject to amortization In accordance with accounting guidance regarding the

accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets we review long-lived assets and all

amortizable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable Recoverability of these

assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to

which the assets relate to their carrying amount The operations are generally distinguished by the

business segment and geographic region in which they operate If the operation is determined to

be unable to recover the carrying amount of its assets then intangible assets are written down

first followed by the other long-lived assets of the operation to fair value Fair value is based on

discounted cash flows or appraised values depending upon the nature of the assets

Goodwill Assets not subject to amortization Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite

lives are not amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment

indicators arise Our annual goodwill impairment review date is December 31 We performed our

annual goodwill impairment review as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 and noted no

impairment of goodwill In making this assessment we rely on number of factors including

operating results business plans economic projections anticipated future cash flows and

transactions and marketplace data There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and

our judgment in applying them to the analysis of goodwill impairment Changes in economic and

operating conditions could result in goodwill impairment in future periods We also compared the

aggregate fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization



Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off balance sheet financing arrangements that we believe have or are

reasonably likely to have current or future material effect on our financial position

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our market risk is impacted by changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange

rates The following discussion excludes the impact of our acquisition of Terex Mining

Interest Rates Our interest rate exposure relates primarily to floating rate debt obligations

in the United States We manage borrowings under our credit agreement through the selection of

LIBOR based borrowings EURIBOR based borrowings or prime-rate based borrowings To

manage portion of our exposure to changes in LIBOR-based interest rates we have entered

into interest rate swap agreements that effectively fix the interest payments on $475.8 million of

our outstanding borrowings under our term loan facility at weighted average interest rate of

3.4% pIus the applicable spread At December 31 2009 sensitivity analysis was performed for

our floating rate debt obligations Based on this sensitivity analysis we have determined that

10% change in the weighted average interest rate at December31 2009 would not have

material effect on our interest expense on an annual basis

Foreign Currency We sell most of our surface mining original equipment including those

sold directly to foreign customers in United States dollars and we sell most of our underground

mining original equipment in either United States dollars or euros We sell most of our surface

mining aftermarket parts in United States dollars with limited aftermarket parts sales denominated

in the local currencies of various foreign markets We sell most of our underground mining

aftermarket parts in either United States dollars or euros also with limited aftermarket parts sales

denominated in the local currencies of various foreign markets Both surface mining and

underground mining aftermarket services are paid primarily in local currency with natural partial

currency hedge through payment for local labor in local currency The value in United States

dollars of our investments in our foreign subsidiaries and of dividends paid to us by those

subsidiaries will be affected by changes in exchange rates We enter into currency hedges to

help mitigate currency exchange risks

Currency controls devaluations trade restrictions and other disruptions in the currency

convertibility and in the market for currency exchange could limit our ability to timely convert sales

earned abroad into United States dollars which could adversely affect our ability to service our

United States dollar indebtedness fund our United States dollar costs and finance capital

expenditures and pay dividends on our common stock

Based on our derivative instruments outstanding at December 31 2009 10% change in

foreign currency exchange rates would not have material effect on our financial position results

of operations or cash flows
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